PAST AND FUTURE GOALS AND OBJECTIVES IN THE Allocation of the northern CCD resource



GLENN BLACKWOOD







Past and Future Goals and Objectives in the

Allocation of the Northern Cod Resource

by

Glenn Blackwood

A thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfilment of the

requirements for the Degree of

Master of Arts

Department of Geography

Memorial University of Newfoundland

July 1996

St. John's

Newfoundland



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontano #1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Weilington Ottawa (Ontario) K 1A 0N4

Your Me Volve reliérance

Our lie Note idifrence

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, Ioan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons. L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission.

Canadä

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-612-17571-5

ABSTRACT

The collapse of the Northern cod stock and subsequent closure of the fishery in NAFO divisions 2J+3KL, is reflective of the worldwide crisis in fisheries management. The uncertainty surrounding the future of this resource and the thousands of people dependent upon it has led to changes in the management process; however, the resource allocation issue has not been resolved and as in the past remains a major source of controversy.

This study examines the allocations and catches of Northern cod during the 1977 to 1991 period. This information is presented in the context of the stated goals and objectives for the allocation of the resource. The study reveals that despite public statements and published documents of a priority access to the inshore sector, the greater part of the resource was allocated to other users such as the Canadian offshore fleet and foreign countries as part of Canada's bilateral agreements. This failure to adhere to stated goals and objectives was largely owing to the overly optimistic resource projections of the late 1970s which projected a 350,000-400,000 mt. total allowable catch (TAC) by 1985 and estimated the inshore requirement to be approximately 230,000 mL. These projections opened the door for new users and allowed for foreign allocations which led to a redistribution of the economic benefits of the Northern cod resource away from the traditional inshore sector which was to have been the principal beneficiary of the 200 mile limit. This euphoric phase of the late 1970s was followed by a period of uncertainty during the 1980s, fuelled by the repeated failure of the inshore fishery to harvest its allocation of 115,000 mt. The crisis phase began in 1989 when scientists recommended dramatic reductions in the total allowable catch. Unfortunately this advice was not taken by the Department of Fisheries and Oceans and the TACs were set at more than twice the advised level until the stock collapsed in 1992.

The stated goals and objectives of priority for the inshore sector were never achieved and by 1986 the inshore fishery accounted for only 26% of the total catch. Now that the fishery is closed there are a number of reports that restate the priority allocation to the inshore sector and recommend that when the fishery reopens the first 100,000 mt. of catch be allocated exclusively to the inshore fishery. It remains to be seen if these goals and objectives will be the cornerstone of future allocation and management or like those of the late 1970s and early 1980s will be neither adhered to nor attained.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Deciding to return to University after an extended period requires a major commitment on behalf of the student but also on behalf of everyone else involved at the academic, professional and especially the personal level.

Since meeting Dr. Alistair Bath in 1992 I have acquired a totally different perspective on fisheries management issues, and I have gained an immense respect for "Saskatchewan Farmers". I give Alistair full credit for encouraging me to start the program and especially for keeping me enthused after I discovered early on that there was no magic formula by which to manage fisheries. I will always respect and admire his ability to change opinions and attitudes (especially mine) in a non-confrontational way. I would also like to thank Dr. Keith Storey for numerous votes of confidence, mixed with healthy doses of constructive criticism, Dr. Roger White for deep thoughts and hospitality; Ms. Carole Ann Coffey for always having a smile and the answers to ray questions; and everyone else in the Geography Department who made me feel welcomed from the start.

I would like to acknowledge the Department of Fisheries and Aquaculture for providing financial support for the program and I would also like to express my appreciation for the moral support I received from many of the staff, especially Mr. David Vardy and Mr. Les Dean both of whom encouraged me to undertake the part-time program. More direct and immediate support came from my co-workers and friends, namely Ms. Sharon Murphy, Ms. Sonja Lane and Mr. Rob Coombs who more than compensated for my limited computer skills and more importantly offered endless encouragement. Also, a special thanks to Ms. Eileen Riche who convinced me that the English language can be as difficult and as much fun as fisheries management.

Finally I have to thank my wife and our two young sons for their great contribution to this thesis. I owe its completion to my wife, Christine (a true geographer) who, for the past three years, has mastered the use of the "carrot and the stick", has been both mom and dad on occasion, and has sacrificed a great deal to ensure that I could devote endless nights and weekends to this work. Ben and Christopher have not known life without the thesis and will no doubt wonder why I'm home on Sunday mornings. Unfortunately, I no longer have an excuse for three years of procrastination around the house.

A part-time masters program is easy to start but impossible to finish without an incredible amount of support. To all the people acknowledged here and the many others who offered encouragement and assistance during the past 3 1/2 years I offer my sincere appreciation and thanks.

DEDICATION

To my parents, Cherry and Eric A. (Gus) Blackwood, who provided a loving home, placed a great deal of emphasis on education, and who still take great pride in all their children's accomplishments. If "Education is a journey not a destination," then you both have travelled with me from the start.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	
Acknowled	gements
Dedication	vi
List of Tab	lesix
List of Figu	ıres
Chapter 1:	Introduction
1.1	Global Crisis in Fisheries Management
1.2	Fisheries Allocations
1.3	Geography and Resource Allocation
1.4	Purpose of Study
1.5	Justification for Research
Chapter 2:	Approach and Methodology
2.1	Study Area
2.2	Background
2.3	Data Sources and Methodology
	2.3.1 Data Sources 20
	2.3.2 Methodology
Chapter 3:	Fisheries Resource Allocation 23
3.1	History of Management up to 1977 24
3.2	Canadian Management after 1977 29
	3.2.1 The Spatial Allocation of Access
	3.2.1.1 The Two Hundred Mile Limit
	3.2.1.2 Sector Management
	3.2.2 Allocation of Resources - Sharing the Pie
	3.2.2.1 Total Allowable Catches
	3.2.2.2 Sharing the Pie
3.3	The Fisheries Resource Allocation Process
3.4	Principles of Allocation
Chapter 4:	Past Allocations of Northern Cod
4.1	Setting the Total Allowable Catch 41

4.2	Foreign Allocations and Overfishing 4
4.3	Inshore Allocation 50
4.4	Offshore Allocation
Chapter 5:	Impacts of Allocation Decisions
5.1	Stated Objectives vs, Actual Decisions
5.2	Economic Impacts on Fleet Sectors and Regions 64
5.3	Spatial Shift in the Distribution of the Landings
Chapter 6:	Factors in the Future Allocation of Northern Cod
6.1	Statements of Goals and Objectives 1977 to 1992 74
6.2	Future Allocation, Goals and Objectives
	6.2.1 Harris Panel's Independent Review of the State of the
	Northern Cod Stock
	6.2.2 Dunne Report on the Implementation of the Harris
	Panels Recommendations 78
	6.2.3 Government of Newfoundland and Labrador - Changing
	Tides 70
	6.2.4 Cashin Task Force on Income and Adjustments 70
	6.2.5 Minister of Fisheries and Oceans
	6.2.6 Summary of Current Allocation Goals
63	Allocation and Canacity Reduction
0.5	6.3.1 "Too many fichermon, chasing too faw fich"
	6.2.2 Decional Delenas
	0.5.2 Regional Balance
0.4	National vs. Regional Allocation Phontues
Chapter 7:	Summary and Conclusions 84
7.1	The Future Management of Northern Cod 84
7.2	Areas for Future Research 87
7.3	Summary and Recommendation 88
Bibliograph	y
Appendix C	97 97

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 4.1	Retrospective Analysis of Northern Cod TAC's	43
Table 4.2	Northern Cod Allocation and Catches by Country 1977-1991	47
Table 5.1	Cumulative Allocations and Catches of Northern Cod 1977-1992 $\$ and the Social and Economic Impact	66

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1.1	The Dimensions of Resource Management
Figure 2.1	Map Illustrating the Physical Boundaries of the Study Area 16
Figure 3.1	Historical Landings of Northern Cod 25
Figure 3.2	Landings of Northern Cod by Sector and Region 1962-92 27
Figure 3.3	The Three Sector Management Areas on the Atlantic Coast $\ldots \ldots \ 31$
Figure 4.1	Inshore, Canadian Offshore and Foreign Allocations of Northern Cod 1977-1991
Figure 4.2	Inshore, Canadian Offshore and Foreign Catches of Northern Cod 1977-1991
Figure 4.3	Foreign Allocations and Catches of 2J+3KL Cod as Reported to NAFO 1977-1991
Figure 4.4	Inshore Allocations and Catches of 2J+3KL Cod for 1977 to 1991
Figure 4.5	Inshore Percentage Share of the Northern Cod Allocation and Catch 1977 to 1991 in Relation to National and Provincial Stated Objectives
Figure 4.6	Canadian Offshore (>65 ft.) Allocations and Catches of Northern Cod 1977-1991
Figure 5.1	Northern Cod Spawning Biomass 1962-1994
Figure 5.2	Regional Distribution of Northern Cod Landings 1978 and 1988 68
Figure 5.3	Nova Scotian landings of Northern Cod 1977-1992 70
Figure 5.4	Top 15 Landing Sites for Northern Cod in 1978 and 1988 71

Chapter 1: Introduction

A clear research priority for geographers, if we are to contribute to fisheries management, is to conduct hindsight evaluations of specific resource allocations, and to relate these to the needs of future organization for fisheries management. (Draper 1981)

The Newfoundland and Labrador groundfish fishery is in a state of crisis with nearly all of the traditional fisheries closed and the groundfish stocks at, or near, the lowest level of abundance ever recorded. The social and economic impact has been severe, with between 30,000 to 40,000 people negatively affected and now dependent upon Federal assistance programs for a portion or all of their livelihood (Cashin 1993).

Both Federal and Provincial governments and the entire fishing industry are grappling with low resource prospects and the looming problem of capacity reduction in the harvesting and processing sectors and, in this context, fisheries management and allocation are subjects of considerable debate throughout Atlantic Canada. In Newfoundland and Labrador it is often stated that in the inshore sector there are "too many fishermen chasing too few fish" and that this fundamental problem must be addressed. Despite the current low level of the Northern cod stock upon which many of these fishermen have historically depended, the size of the future inshore fishery will depend upon more than the recovery of the stock. The allocation or sharing of the Northern cod stock will be critical in deciding the future of the inshore sector since it will determine the amount of fish available. Only after the allocation issue is settled can the harvesting and processing components of the inshore and offshore sectors be rationalized, based on resource availability. Despite the principle of allocation, that reflects adjacency and history, and despite the stated objectives giving inshore fishermen priority access to the Northern cod made in the late 1970s, the inshore fishermen's share of Northern cod has been steadily eroded. Despite the objections of traditional users, the Government of Canada ignored warnings of inshore fishermen and set total allowable catches (TACs) which ir. retrospect were too high and then allocated the lions' share of Northern cod to foreign countries, the Canadian offshore sector and new entrants from other regions. The inshore fixed-gear sector's share of the Northern cod stock, which had historically been 85-90% of the total catch, and nearly 100% of the Canadian share, was thus eroded to less than 50% of the Canadian allocation by 1986. Preliminary analysis of catch statistics indicates that the inshore fishery accounted for only approximately 25% of the total catch because of the low level of the resource and the high level of catches by foreign vessels outside of 200 miles.

The failure to adhere to stated objectives, to follow the principles of allocation, to acknowledge the warnings and concerns of the traditional users, to deal with the overfishing outside of 200 miles and to set total allowable catches (TACs) based on the scientific advice have all contributed to the overexploitation and subsequent collapse of the Northern cod stock. In the wake of the catastrophe, the inshore fishery is again stated to have priority of access to the first 100,000 to 115,000 metric tonnes (Government of Newfoundland and Labrador 1993; Cashin 1993; DFO 1995); however, these stated objectives echo those of the late 1970s when the Northern cod stock was projected to be growing beyond the needs or harvesting capabilities of the inshore sector (DFO 1979) and was allocated to other sectors to address overcapacity problems in the harvesting sector elsewhere in Atlantic Canada and to satisfy the demands of foreign nations under bilateral agreements.

This thesis will conduct a hindsight evaluation of the allocation of the Northern cod stock in the 1977 to 1991 period by documenting stated allocation objectives and actual decisions; by examining the allocation process; by analyzing past allocations and actual catches and by identifying the spatial impacts of the allocations. In addition, the importance of goals and objectives in future allocation and resource management processes will be discussed.

1.1 Global Crisis in Fisheries Management

The stewardship of marine fisheries is one of the most difficult resource management problems facing mankind. In recent years the concepts of sustainable development and resource conservation have received considerable attention; however, marine resources are still characterized by "boom and bust" fisheries, resource overexploitation and increasing conflict between use: , be they individual fishermen, gear sectors, regions or nations. The extraction of fish from the ocean is often termed "the last wild harvest", for mankind has not been able to manage fisheries resources on a sustainable basis with over-exploitation, destruction of habitat, lost growth potential and commercial extinction being the norm (Leopold 1948; Cole-King 1993; Acheson 1981; Ludwig *et al.* 1993; Walters 1986). Currently, marine fisheries are in a state of crisis worldwide, with the majority of fish stocks over-exploited or in a state of collapse (Ludwig et al. 1993; Hinds 1992; FAO 1994). Canada is no exception; groundfish populations in Atlantic Canada are at or near the lowest level of abundance ever recorded, and most fisheries have been closed. Northern cod was the largest groundfish stock in Atlantic Canada but a number of studies have documented its over-exploitation and the management decisions that led to its collapse (Steele et al. 1992; Hutchings and Myers 1994; Haedrich 1994; Martin 1995). The biological collapse and subsequent fisheries closures have also resulted in negative social and economic impacts throughout Atlantic Canada and especially in Newfoundland and Labrador which was heavily dependent upon groundfish and particularly upon the Northern cod stock (Storey 1993; Cashin 1993; Hamilton and Seyfrit 1994).

1.2 Fisheries Allocations

The collapse of the groundfish fishery in Atlantic Canada has also resulted in a review of fisheries management and has led to dramatic changes in the Canadian decisionmaking process with respect to the level at which fish populations should be harvested. The Fisheries Resource Conservation Council (FRCC) was created as a "council for the fish" to replace the industry advisory process which focused on allocations, often to the detriment of the resource.

Unfortunately, to date there has been no replacement mechanism to allow input of the user groups into the resource allocation process. Because most stocks are closed, the absence of such a process has not received much attention. However, as fish stocks rebuild, it is recognized that considerable industry downsizing must occur. The harvesting and processing of groundfish in coming years will likely provide approximately 50% of the jobs and economic benefits seen in the 1980s (Cashin 1993: 56), and the fight for the fish will be subject to incredible conflict between regions, provinces, fleet sectors, towns and individual fishermen. In this respect, the allocation process is equally as important as the rebuilding of fish stocks because a rebuilt resource will not generate economic activity unless it can be accessed through the allocation process.

The need to address the resource allocation issue is best summarized in the report of the recent Task Force on Incomes and Adjustments in the Atlantic Fishery:

> The current resource crisis will not be solved, nor will the chronic over-capacity in the harvesting sector, by taking one fleet sector's allocation and giving it to another fleet sectors. Beyond the issues of allocation among fleet sectors, there is the linkage between coastal areas and the resources upon which they have traditionally relied. Sometimes, what is presented as fleet sector or gear technology issues are really demands from one coastal area to have resources reallocated to them from another. This is no way to decide the future of coastal areas and the resources upon which they have traditionally relied (Cashin 1993, p.65).

Despite this looming conflict, the Government of Canada has not addressed the issue of resource allocation and has, in fact, moved away from its stated allocation principles and set up "special" programs which undermine the past principles and stated objectives of fisheries allocation. The "Principles of Allocation" which were the comerstone of the groundfish management plan during the 1980s were renamed "Essential Elements ' in 1993 and are now called 'Guidelines' (DFO Annual Atlantic Groundfish Management Plans 1982-95). This weakening of the rules has allowed regional reallocation of resources and is exactly the problem the Cashin Task Force (1993) described.

The challenge for the coming years is to develop an equitable and consistent allocation policy for Canada which will treat all regions and user groups fairly. An important and vital component of this policy must be clearly-stated goals and objectives (Barber and Taylor 1990) which should be developed through full public consultation. Once these goals and objectives are established, the annual "fight for the fish" will be greatly diminished, and the rationalization of an industry can proceed on a regional and fleet sector basis. The fishing industry and both levels of government may then be able to focus on resource conservation instead of the age old conflict over dividing the pie.

1.3 Geography and Resource Allocation

Resource management is defined by O'Riordan as "a process of decision-making whereby resources are allocated over space and time according to the needs, aspirations and desires of man within the framework of his technological inventiveness, his political and social institutions and his legal and administrative arrangements" (Mitchell 1979). The process of resource management is often seen as a process of "muddling through" (Krueger and Mitchell 1977) owing to the vast array of biological, social, economic, legal, institutional, technological and political perspectives which must be incorporated at differing spatial and temporal scales (Figure 1.1). In attempting to improve resource management, it is necessary to evaluate past management decisions; one of the best mechanisms to judge the success or failure of the past process is to examine the allocation of resources.

Geography is unique in its ability to be integrative (Spooner 1990) and a review of resource geography by Ferguson and Alley (1984) suggests that some larger view is necessary to understand how geography fits within the complex resource-management framework. "Allocation processes offer one means of forming such a framework" (Ferguson and Alley 1984). The examination of the spatial scale has also been central to geography. In examining resource management, the ultimate goal for geographes "should be to understand spatial allocations of resources..." (Knueger and Mitchell 1977).

Resource allocation is a central theme of resource geography and offers a means to evaluate the management process. The role of geographers in resource analysis was reviewed by Mitchell (1979) who identified four areas of research: 1) Studies of natural resources themselves....2) Studies of alternative allocations (spatial, temporal and functional)....3) Studies of variables which condition resource allocation....and 4) Studies of the impact of specific resource allocation" (Mitchell 1979).

In reviewing the future and potential contribution of the role of geographers to fisheries management, Draper (1981) recommended hindsight evaluation of resource allocations:



• :



A clear research priority for geographers if we are to understand and contribute to fisheries management, is to conduct hindsight evaluations of specific resource allocations, and to relate these to the needs of future organizations for fisheries management.

In the context of Newfoundland and Labrador, Draper suggested that

Geographers can and should explore such areas including the issues of inshore/offshore tradeoffs...(which) combined with the domestic-foreign allocation problem on the cast coast, will need to be analysed in a broad way in recognition of regional economic differences.

Unfortunately, since 1981 very little research has been done with respect to the fisheries allocation issues identified by Draper.

1.4 Purpose of Study

The purpose of this study is to document fisheries resource allocation decisions and their imputs with respect to the Northern cod (2J + 3KL) stock in the 1977 to 1991 period. This will be accomplished through hindsight evaluation (as suggested by Draper) of inshore/offshore splits and foreign allocations and catches in the context of the stated allocation objectives. The implications for future resource allocation and management will also be discussed.

This study will focus on the past management and allocation of the Northern cod stock to achieve the following objectives: (Hypothesis shown in Brackets)

 to document the allocation of the Northern cod stock from 1977 to 1991; to illustrate the shifts in resources which took place between the inshore, offshore and foreign sectors which affected the regional distribution of the resource;

(Given the emphasis on adjacency, historic dependency and priority of access to the resource by inshore sector it is hypothesized that the inshore would see its share of the resource increase.)

 to identify and evaluate the priorities for the allocation of the Northern cod resource in terms of stated objectives and actual decisions;

(It is hypothesized that there is no difference between the stated objectives of allocation and the actual allocation decision. Stated geals from reports will be compared to actual allocation decisions in groundfish management plans and quota reports.)

4) to discuss the importance of goals and objectives in the resource allocation process and draw implications for future fisheries allocation and management.

1.5 Justification for Research

Research can make a contribution to the literature from a methodological, theoretical and applied perspective. Resource geography research often has a strong applied dimension; however, the other aspects are equally important. The contribution of this thesis to the theoretical aspect of resource-management is its development of a mechanism to conduct hindsight evaluations of resource management decisions by documenting resource-allocation decisions, describing how they differ from stated objectives and illustrating how such decisions affect the spatial distribution of the resource. Because of the vast array of interacting factors to be taken into consideration when managing natural resources, the failures greatly outnumber the successes; however, improving resource management in the future depends upon the evaluation of resourceallocation decisions and processes since these are the only means to document and analyze past decisions (Mitchell 1979).

Very little work has been done on the evaluation of resource allocation decisions in terms of the allocation process. Elster in his 1992 review of allocation processes stated that "there have been virtually no attempts to study the whole range of questions of this kind, and to develop a conceptual and theoretical framework to describe and explain how institutions allocate goods and burdens" (Elster 1992). The inclusion of goals, objectives and values in the resource-allocation process is also seen as a critical component of effective fisheries management (Barber and Taylor 1990).

From an applied perspective the allocation of fisheries resources is the most conflict-producing type of management decision (Hanna and Smith 1993). Since the declaration of the Canadian 200 mile limit in 1977, the sharing of Atlantic Canada's groundfish resources has been subject to great debate and conflict, usually to the detriment of the resource. The current low biological level of the resource has resulted in a new process for resource conservation which has placed the biological health of the resource above all other concerns (FRCC 1993). No such process or mechanism has been put in place to deal with the allocation of fisheries resources despite the fact that resource allocation is the most controversial aspect of fisheries management. The battle lines have been drawn and once stocks begin to recover the conflict will again intensify (Martin 1995).

From a spatial perspective the economic future of many communities and entire regions depends upon access to resources which are controlled and allocated by national or international organizations. These communities are not able to influence the allocation policy and are often not privy to the decision-making process, yet they are vulnerable to national and international allocation decisions which result in negative social and economic impacts at the local and/or regional level. Since Draper (1981) identified fisheries allocation as an area for geographers to examine, the groundfish fishery in Newfoundland and Labrador has gone from a period of high catches and optimism to a time of closed fisheries and deep pessinism.

This thesis will illustrate how the allocation process is a critical component of fisheries management and will emphasize the importance of goals and objectives upon spatial and sectoral inconsistencies in the resource allocation process. Since the Amulree Commission in 1933 it has been repeatedly stated that there are; 'too many fishermen chasing too few fish" in Newfoundland and Labrador (Blake 1994); the allocation decisions of the past 18 years have not addressed this perceived problem. In fact, the national allocation policy for Northern cod, despite its stated objectives, has increased the access of new users and diverted significant amounts of fish to other regions and countries at the expense of traditional users and dependent regions, thereby, exacerbating the problem.

In Parsons' (1993) review of fisheries management in Canada the process of resource allocation is described as "sharing a limited pie" (Parsons 1993:156)). The most recent review of Atlantic Canada's fishery states that 50% of the harvesting and processing capacity must be removed from the industry and that downsizing must be done on a regional basis by industry renewal boards. Such boards should "define the geographic areas within which harvesting capacity reduction take place" (Cashin 1993:39), Obviously, balancing the numbers of fishermen with the resource base is affected by resource allocation. The Cashin Task Force goes on to state that "Capacity reduction should be based on the principle that coastal areas would maintain priority access to resources upon which they have traditionally relied" (page 40), and that the inshore fishery would have priority access to the Northern cod stock for the first 115,000 mt. These words echo those of the reports of the late 1970s and more recent documents such as the Harris Panel (1990), the Dunne Report (1990) and the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador's "Changing Tides" document (1993). In theory, such statements should give direction and provide goals and objectives to the allocation process, yet, unless the process changes, the future allocation of Northern cod will likely continue to be a misguided process of "muddling through" driven by crisis management.

The following chapter will identify the data sources and methodology used to conduct an evaluation of past allocations of the Northern cod resource and to identify past goals and objectives. Chapter 3 will review the evolution of the allocation process and the principles of groundfish allocation in Canada. Chapter 4 details the past allocation and catches of Northern cod in the 1977-91 period and shows how those allocations and catches compare to the stated objectives. The impact of allocation decisions are given in Chapter 5 which examines the stated versus actual decisions, the economic impact of the decisions and the spatial shift of the resource which occurred as the result of allocation decisions. Chapter 6 reviews the statements of goals and objectives in the 1977-91 period and focuses on the allocation goals and objectives in recent documents relating to the "fishery of the future". The findings and conclusions are given in Chapter 7 along with suggestions for future research with respect to resource allocation and the spatial implications of allocation decisions. The need for clearly stated allocation goals and objectives is also discussed in terms of clarification of the fisheries allocation decisions and in the future evaluation of the management process.

Chapter 2: Approach and Methodology

2.1 Study Area

This study will examine the allocation of the stock of cod (<u>Gadus morhua</u>) commonly referred to as Northern cod in the waters off the Northeast coast of Newfoundland and Labrador, in the Northwest Atlantic Fisheries Organization's (NAFO) divisions 21, 3K and 3L (Figure 2.1). Within these divisions it is recognized that a number of sub-components of the stock may exist; however, the stock is managed as one disrete unit (Lear and Parsons 1993) and it is treated here as such.

The management of the cod stock is done by Canada on the basis of the entire stock area; however, landings are often reported on a smaller geographical scale eg. community or NAFO Division 2J or 3K. Likewise, landings of cod from stock area 2J + 3KL in nonadjacent areas of the Province or Atlantic Canada can be documented from the Canadian Atlantic Quota Report. The unregulated foreign fishery which occurs outside Canada's two hundred mile limit takes place in NAFO division 3L in an area known as the Nose of the Bank. In documenting past management and allocation decisions, and the resultant spatial shifts in the distribution of the Northern cod resource, references will be made to the Gulf Region (4RST and 3Pn), the Scolian Fundy region (4VWX) and to the south coast of Newfoundland (3Ps)



Figure 2.1: Map Illustrating the Physical Boundaries of the Study Area

2.2 Background

The allocation of the Northern cod stock is documented in annual publications such as the Atlantic Groundfish Management Plan and the Canadian Atlantic Quota Report. While there are no academic publications dealing specifically with the allocation of the Northern cod stock, a number of papers (Harris 1990, Storey 1993, Steele *et al* 1992, Parsons 1993, Lear and Parsons 1993) deal with the overall management of the resource. The study of the allocation process is a research area in resource geography which is receiving increasing attention; Mitchell (1979), reviewed the role of the geographer; Hann and Smith (1992) reviewed the role of allocation conflict in resource management, and Pinkerton (1989) reviewed the scale at which allocation decisions are made.

While no academic studies have focused specifically on the allecation of Northern cod, there is a significant amount of literature on the stock which makes specific recommendations with respect to how it should be allocated. In the context of Canada's management of the Northern cod resource, the first detailed study to focus on allocation was the published account of the Northern cod seminar entitled "Towards a Policy for the Utilization of Northern Cod" (DFO 1979) which was held in Corner Brook in 1979. This study projected that the future growth of the Northern cod stock would allow a harvest of 350,000 to 400,000 mt. The inshore share based on its historic catch was defined as 230,000 mt. and the remainder was to be allocated to the Canadian offshore sector and foreign nations under bilateral trade agreements (DFO 1979). During the early 1980s the Kirby Task Force (1983) also made allocation recommendations for Northern cod based on the fact that the stock was growing beyond the needs of the inshore sector. During 1986, the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador published 'Strength from the Sea' expressing concern over the allocation of Northern cod to new users from other provinces while the traditional inshore fishery was failing. In 1987, the Alverson Task Force attempted to explain the continuing failure of the inshore fishery and also noted the priority of access to the inshore sector. In this same year the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador produced 'Northern Cod Under Attack' in response to a proposal from Nova Nord, a Quebec/New Brunswick consortium, for an allocation of 10,000 mt. of Northern cod.

The Harris Panel in 1990 provides one of the best overviews of the allocation issue and stresses the need for clearly stated goals and objectives for the management and allocation of Northern cod. The Dunne Report on the "Implementation of the Harris Panel's Recommendations" stated that priority access be given to the inshore sector based on its dependency, history and adjacency (DFO 1990). Following the closure of the fishery for Northern cod in 1992, the focus of most publications shifted from the allocation of the resource to dealing with the social and economic consequences of the collapse. The social and economic issues have now been largely addressed through The Atlantic Groundfish Strategy (TAGS) and attention has returned to the allocation issue. The Cashin Task Force report is very clear in its statements with respect to the future allocation of Northerm cod in terms of giving priority access to the inshore fishery for the first 115,000 mt. Likewise, the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador policy paper entitled "Changing Tides" (1993) recommends that the first 100,000 mt. of Northern cod be allocated to the inshore fishery with the allocation of any future increases to be decided by public hearings. It is important to note that the new reference level of 100,000 to 115,000 mt. reflects the inshore catch in the past 15 to 20 years and is approximately 50% of the 230,000 mt. long-term average catch which was the reference point during the late 1970s. The aforementioned reports outline past and future goals and objectives with respect to allocation of the Northern cod resource and provide a benchmark to evaluate the past management. A review of those various reports, comparing goals and objectives and integrating those sources is an integral part of this study. A detailed assessment of the management and allocation process is provided in Chapter 3.

2.3 Data Sources and Methodology

Northern cod in 2J+3KL has been reported as a unit since 1951, with the data presented on an annual basis. A major problem in conducting analysis of fisheries information is the lack of a data base which is complete from both a chronological and spatial perspective. Foreign catches are reported in the NAFO Statistical Bulletin, whereas, Canada's quotas and catches are reported in the Canadian Atlantic Quota Report. In addition, the information is presented in a format which makes the analysis of spatial distribution of the resource difficult with landings being reported in different publications by country, region, fleet sector and community. This thesis will examine different statistical data bases across both the spatial and temporal time period in question to provide a basis on which to evaluate the changes which occurred over the 1977 to 1992 period.

2.3.1 Data Sources

The focus of this thesis is the allocation of the Northern cod resource. Unlike catches, allocations are clearly identified and not subject to the same disputes and debates with respect to accuracy. Catches are used to supplement the allocation data and to illustrate how catches often differ from allocations, as in the case of foreign catches which exceeded its allocation and the inshore sector which did not eatch its allocation. Catch data are also used to illustrate shifts in the spatial distribution of landings on a regional basis since allocations, although not assigned to communities or regions, indirectly determine where fish is landed.

The annual year end Canadian Atlantic Quota Report and the annual Atlantic Groundfish Management Plan are the primary sources of data on the allocation to and catch by Canadian fleets. The foreign catch is taken from NAFO statistical bulletins and other sources such as Lear and Parsons (1993). The NAFO landings data base is problematic for the late 1980s and 1990s when the conflict between Canada and the European Union intensified. It is suspected that landings may not be as low as stated in the NAFO Statistical Bulletin. Indeed, Canada's aerial surveys of the 3L area called the Nose of the Bank reveal effort and catches in excess of those reported to NAFO. Thus, for the purpose of this analysis, the foreign catch of Northern cod as reported should be treated as the minimum amount harvested. The Canadian fisheries landing data are less of a problem since the offshore fleets were under quota management and were subject to closure during the 1977-82 period. While discarding was a problem during the early years of the enterprise allocation program, by 1986 the offshore harvest was subject to full coverage by observers. The inshore eatch is estimated by purchase slips which are issued for all sales. In addition, DFO estimates the amount caught but not sold during each month (Chen 1994). Given the fact that the inshore was on an allowance system, there was no reason to mis-report catch.

The allocation between nations and between sectors within Canada is found in the Atlantic Groundfish Management Plan. The allocation is established at the beginning of each year and is not likely to change during the year because of the intense conflict between the different users.

The stated goals and objectives of allocation are found in special studies, task force reports, and annual management plans. Northern cod was the major stock in Atlantic Canada during the study period and there are a large number of published reports dealing with the allocation of that resource.

2.3.2 Methodology

Draper (1981) stated that geographers should conduct hindsight evaluations of the inshore and offshore tradeoffs, but did not offer a method to conduct such evaluations. Obviously, since the landing ports of the inshore and offshore Canadian fleets and the foreign fleets are geographically separate, the allocation to and catch by each soctor affects the geographic distribution of the landings and hence the distribution of economic benefits.
The method chosen to conduct the hindsight evaluation as suggested by Draper (1981) is to identify the stated allocation goals and objectives from published reports and then examine the subsequent allocations to determine whether the allocation objective was achieved. This will test the hypothesis with respect to the expected increase in the inshore's share of the Northern cod resource. Catches are also used in the evaluation since the inshore sector was not able to catch its allocation.

The annual allocation and catch data presented in the Atlantic Groundfish Management Plans and the Canadian Atlantic Quota Reports are combined with the foreign allocation and catch data from the NAFO data base to provide data from 1977 to 1991 that illustrate a time series of the shifts in the allocations and resultant catches of the resource among different users. This complete data base for the stock does not currently exist in the literature and will provide the basis for a quantitative analysis of the changes in allocation which occurred in comparison to the qualitative objectives.

To illustrate the shift in the spatial distribution of the resource over time, the portion of the 2J+3KL stock landed in each NAFO division is shown, as well as the top 15 landing sites from the community landings data base. Both sources of information are available from DFO statistics and can be used to illustrate large scale spatial shifts. In both cases, the shift from North to South is the result of allocation decisions which increased allocations to the offshore sector and thus lowered the share available to the inshore sector.

Chapter 3: Fisheries Resource Allocation

Historically, allocation of fisheries resources reveals a decided lack of sophistication. From mar's earliest existence...fish and game resources allocation was a function of brute force. In recent times political strength has been substituted for physical strength. (Stroud *et al.* 1980)

The management of marine fisheries has evolved from Huxley's concept of inexhaustible seas (Smith 1995) to the realization that resources are finite and that excessive fishing pressure can reduce fish populations to the point of commercial and biological extinction. In order to "control" or manage the impact of mankind upon fish resources, various management measures have evolved which restrict spatial access, limit the amount to be harvested, and restrict gear types and fishing seasons. A key component of these management measures is the allocation of fisheries resources which determines the spatial, temporal and technological restrictions placed upon fishermen and also determines the distribution of economic benefit from the common property resources. The purpose of this section is to review the history of fisheries management with emphasis on the resource allocation process in the context of the groundfish fishery in the Northwest Atlantic and, in particular, the Northern cod fishery. This will provide a background to the allocation process and provide a data base to evaluate the changes in allocation in the 1977 to 1992 period.

3.1 History of Management up to 1977

The settlement of Newfoundland and Labrador is historically linked to the harvest of marine resources that occurred in abundance in the coastal and offshore areas. Northern cod was the "raison d'être" of the vast majority of settlements along the coast of northeastern Newfoundland and Labrador (Harris et al 1990; Copes 1980) with the Island viewed as "the great ship moored near the fishing banks" (Harris et al 1990). This geographic advantage held for hundreds of years as the inshore fixed-gear fishery centred around the annual migration of cod to the coast. During the period from the 1500s to the 1900s there was virtually no management in the form of licences, TACs, mesh sizes, etc. There was, however, spatial separation of fishing areas between different nations with the French and English occupying different geographic regions (eg. the French Shore). However, the major constraint was the forces of nature in terms of geographic, physical and seasonal limitations. When fish did not show up or ice conditions prevented a harvest, it was generally seen as "one for the fish" (N. Bates 1995 Pers. Comm.). The absence of a management regime did not jeopardize the health of the groundfish stocks and indeed the Northern cod fishery from 1850 to 1950 could be viewed as a model of stability and sustainable resource usage (Harris et al 1990: 23. Fig 3.1).

The development of otter trawl and freezing technology vastly changed the harvest



Figure 3.1: Historic Landings of Northern Cod From: Harris et al. 1990; page 23

25

of many fisheries resources worldwide. This was especially true for the Northern cod stock as the development of the factory freezer trawler during the 1950s led to a dramatic increase in total harvest and a change in the spatial and temporal limitations on the resource. The allocation of the resource during the 1950s and 1960s was not an issue since the fishery essentially operated as a free-for-all with very limited controls on the overall harvest; however, as offshore effort increased the inshore fishery by 1974 had plummeted to less than 20% of its long term average (Harris et al 1990). As the exploitation of the high seas intensified in the post-war era, international organizations were formed to monitor and eventually manage fish stocks found in international waters. The International Convention on Northwest Atlantic Fisheries (ICNAF) was formed in 1949 to provide scientific and statistical information to those participating in the fishery. It made early attempts to regulate mesh size and, in 1972, established TACs. However, "as an agency for conservation ICNAF was a total failure" (Harris et al 1990) since the total allowable catches were established at levels which were not restrictive to the fishing fleets. The foreign effort increased dramatically during the 1960s and as a result the unregulated harvest of Northern cod peaked at 810,000 mt. in 1968 (Harris et al 1990; Lear and Parsons 1993). The Northern cod stock subsequently collapsed, and in 1977 Canada declared a 200 mile limit (Figure 3.2) in a belated attempt to control the situation.

In retrospect, it is easy to blame ICNAF for its failure in the management of the Northern cod stock during the 1950s, 1960s and 1970s. It must be remembered, however, that the over-exploitation of marine resources was occurring on a world-wide basis during



Source: NAFO Statistical Bulletins 1962 - 1978: Canadian Atlantic Quota Report 1979 - 1992

Figure 3.2: Landings of Northern Cod by Sector and Region 1962 - 1992.

the 1960s and 1970s (Hinds 1992, Ludwig et al 1993, WCED 1987). Indeed, the inability of mankind to control or manage technology was a factor behind the United Nations Law of the Sea Convention which extended the rights of coastal states to 200 nautical miles, with the intention of ending two decades of over-exploitation. During these two decades the traditional inshore catch of Northern cod had continuously declined from average landings of between 200,000 to 250,000 mt, during the early 1900s to 172,000 mt, by 1956 and a low of 35,000 mt. in 1974 (Harris et al 1990; NORDCO 1981; Lear and Parsons 1993). The social and economic impact of this decline was enormous as tens of thousands of people abandoned the fishery as a means of livelihood and many communities were deserted (Harris et al 1990; Parsons 1993; Blake 1994). Canada was involved in extensive negotiations in the 1958 to 1977 period with the other nations of the world regarding the management of marine resources. The plight of coastal communities which were adjacent to and historically dependent upon the Northern cod resource was central to Canada's arguments at the United Nations Law of the Sea Conference for extended jurisdiction of its exclusive economic zone.

The massive overfishing of marine resources which had occurred on a world wide basis during the 1960s and 1970s lead to increasing pressures for change in the management of the oceans. The 'freedom of the high seas' ended in 1977 because 'the technological revolution created a legal and political vacuum which was filled by this international law concept in a surprisingly brief period' (Evensen 1985 as quoted in Parsons 1993: 243). Thus, in 1977 Canada gained control of a vast fishery zone and the spatial allocation of access became a major component of fisherics management for both foreign nations wanting to fish inside the zone and for Canadian fishermen within the zone.

3.2. Canadian Management after 1977

3.2.1 The Spatial Allocation of Access

The United Nations Law of the Sea effectively brought about an end to decades of massive over-exploitation by vast fleets of factory freezer trawlers from Europe and East Block countries. As a result of the Law of the Sea Agreement, the resource management process and the allocation process shifted from the international scale to the national scale (Figure 1.1). Canada subsequently implemented regional restrictions on licenses and vessel movements, an example of which was Sector Management which allowed for regional management of resources (DFO 1985).

3.2.1.1 The Two Hundred Mile Limit

On January 1, 1977 Canada declared a 200 nautical mile fishing zone on the Atlantic coast encompassing 503,000 square miles (Parsons 1993). The worldwide acceptance of exclusive economic zones allowed most countries to extend their area of control over fisheries through customary international law, since the Law of the Sca Convention has still not been ratified.

The access to the Canadian zone by foreign vessels remains a very contentious issue. Under the terms of the Law of the Sea, resources which are surplus to Canada's needs must be allocated to other nations. Following the extension of jurisdiction, Canadian fishermen expanded their harvesting capacity and gradually harvested all "surplus" fisheries resources for which these fleets had markets or could fish profitably. However, during the 1980s Canada allocated non-surplus amounts of Northern cod to countries in exchange for market access and cooperation in the management of Northern cod and other stocks which straddle the 200 mile limit.

3.2.1.2 Sector Management

Managing 503,000 square miles of ocean as a unit proved to be impossible and following the extension of jurisdiction restrictions on access were implemented on a regional basis. In order to allow for regional planning and to develop fisheries in line with the local resource base, the Government of Canada implemented a sector management policy on January 1, 1982 (Figure 3.3). The policy applies to all inshore vessels less than 65 ft. (19.8 metres) which fish groundfish. It allows for decentralization of the management of the inshore fishery to the regional headquarters level, and allows each region to respond quickly to local fisheries problems and align fishing effort to the resource availability (DFO 1985).

While it is perceived that fishermen in Newfoundland and Labrador were the major beneficiaries of this policy, it was actually implemented to prevent vessels based in Southwest Nova Scotia from fishing in the Gulf of St. Lawrence (Parsons 1993;137). The sector management policy also affected the scale of decision-making by allowing for more regional input. During the 1980s the sector management plan, which limited access of the



Figure 3.3: The Three Sector Management Areas on the Atlantic Coast From: Parsons 1993; page 138

inshore fishery to resources on a regional basis, came under continuous attack and there was a continued erosion of the policy which negatively impacted upon the fishermen of Newfoundland and Labrador (Maloney 1990).

3.2.2 Allocation of Resources - Sharing the Pie

By the time Canada gained control of the 200 mile limit the management of fisheries by Total Allowable Catch (TAC) was an internationally accepted means of managing groundfish resources. Canada adopted the national allocation approach of ICNAF and adapted it to its domestic fleet (Parsons 1993: 114).

3.2.2.1 Total Allowable Catches

Following the extension of jurisdiction Canada was also faced with a major problem with respect to stock assessment because in order to set a TAC it was necessary to know the size of the biomass of various stocks. Canada opted for a conservative level of fishing mortality approximating 20% of the fishable biomass known as $F_{0.1}$ for its groundfish resources. For Northern cod, the TACs were set below the $F_{0.1}$ level to accelerate stock rebuilding. In retrospect these attempts were in vain as an over-estimation of biomass led to TACs and catches which were nearly double the desired level of fishing mortality (CAFSAC 1987).

In effect, the assessment process defines how much resource is available and the level of exploitation (eg. $F_{0,1}$) determines the total allowable catch (size of the pie). Despite the difficulties in setting appropriate TACs and managing within established limits, the assessment of groundfish stocks and the setting of TACs in annual management plans became the cornerstone of groundfish management during the late 1970s and 1980s. Despite the problematic past and lack of success in terms of biological management, the TAC system of management is still widely accepted today. However, once it is determined how much can be harvested, the conflict between user groups over how the resource should be allocated or shared intensifies (Hanna and Smith 1992).

3.2.2.2 Sharing the Pie

The sharing of TACs into national allocations by ICNAF in 1971 was a departure from the common property nature of fisheries. Canada again adopted this method of pie sharing in its fisheries management process in the post-1977 period. A major management crisis occurred at the time of extension of jurisdiction with the collapse of the Gulf redfish resource and resulted in the removal of Nova Scotian and Newfoundland vessels from the redfish fishery in the Gulf of St. Lawrence. The excess harvesting capacity that was removed from the Gulf in 1977 was subsidized by the federal government to fish for Northern cod off Labrador (this will be discussed in detail in section 4.4). This "shifting the burden" approach was to become commonplace during the 1980s and continues today.

Following the extension of jurisdiction in 1977 the removal of foreign flects provided access to enough fish to solve most domestic allocation problems. However, as the Canadian capacity to harvest expanded, the conflict between competing users intensified. The total allowable catch for most stocks was divided between the inshore and offshore sector with each sector getting its own quota. The "race for the fish" in the offshore sector eventually lead to an enterprise allocation system in 1982 whereby each company received an individual share of the overall offshore quota and could plan its harvesting in terms of its fleet and its markets.

The inshore sector in most of Atlantic Canada continued to operate on a quota system while the inshore fishery for Northern cod in 21+3KL operated on an allowance which, because of seasonal and geographic fluctuations in fish migration and abundance, was necessary to allow the fishery to continue after the share was harvested. The inshore allowance was one of the few quotas in Atlantic Canada which was not fully harvested or exceeded on an annual basis. In retrospect, the inability of the inshore sector to harvest its allowance should have been a warning to resource managers since it was reflective of the low level of the resource.

3.3 The Fisheries Resource Allocation Process

The process or mechanism for allocating fisheries resources varies considerably depending upon the resource, the users and the institutional arrangements in place. In 1977, when Canada assumed responsibility for managing the resources within the two hundred miles, there were no formal mechanisms to allow for consultation with the user groups or stakeholders in the Atlantic fishery. However, "with the introduction of resource allocation...the clash of conflicting interests became apparent, so did the need for structured consultation." (Parsons 1993: 463)

The Atlantic Groundfish Advisory Committee (AGAC) became the flagship of a process based upon local consultations feeding into regional advisory committees which then fed into the Atlantic-wide advisory committees. This process grew during the 1980s and by the end of that decade there were 11 committees in the Newfoundland region, 34 committees in the Scotia-Fundy region and 46 advisory committees in the Gulf (Parsons 1993). In addition, the Federal-Provincial Atlantic Fisheries Committee and the Atlantic Council of Fisheries Ministers dealt with resource management and policy issues.

The purpose of the consultation/advisory process was identified in 1986 by the

Department of Fisheries and Oceans in a paper on reforming the consultative process as:

1. To advise the principal user groups and the provincial governments on the basic direction and content of the proposed management plans; and

 To arrive at a broadly-based consensus on the major elements of these plans, particularly with respect to the sharing of the fish quotas among the different user groups. (Parsons 1993: 466)

It is noteworthy that the essential purpose of the process designed to manage fisheries resources was to deal with "sharing of the fish quotas among different user groups," The fight over allocation overshadowed all other aspects of resource management such as conservation. Those experienced with the AGAC consultative process believe this conflict eventually led to its derailment (L. Dean 1995 Pers. Comm.).

The process of consultation was in retrospect much more than a mechanism for input into management decisions. It revealed major differences in regional input as indicated by the difference in the number of committees on a regional basis and in the strength of the different user groups in terms of their ability to use the process to their advantage. The latter has implications for issues such as inshore/offshore shares especially during the critical period of the late 1970s (Parsons 1993:463).

3.4 Principles of Allocation

The debate over resource allocation is often intense and has historically been the cause of conflict between users and regions (Hanna 1994; Hanna and Smith 1992; Smith 1994: Stevenson et al. 1994). The allocation debate over Northern cod intensified as the amount of fish available was reduced, and the conflict occurred in many geographic areas and at many geographic scales, ranging from the international conflict (Sullivan 1989; Day 1995; Rowe 1993) to the intense domestic struggle between regions and communities (Martin 1994; Steele et al. 1992; Vardy 1994; Maloney 1990; Government of Newfoundland and Labrador 1987). Domestically, the allocation of the groundfish resource increasingly became the major source of conflict throughout Atlantic Canada in the years following the declaration of the 200 mile limit. Bitter and intense debates between inshore/offshore interests, gear types, regional groups and provinces were part of the process of developing a groundfish management plan. Specifically, the allocation debate in the late 1970s and early 1980s centred on; "1) the general inshore/offshore splits; 2) access to the Gulf of St. Lawrence by large trawlers based outside the Gulf and 3) inter-provincial rivalry between Newfoundland and Nova Scotia about the share of Northern cod and where Northern cod catches should be landed" (Parsons 1993: 122).

To reduce the annual conflict and *ad hoc* decision making, the Government of Canada developed a set of allocation principles which were designed to protect the interests of the user groups. The allocation principle was one of several overall principles in the annual groundfish management plan and stated:

> Allocation of fishery resources will be on the basis of equity taking into account adjacency to the resource, the relative dependency of coastal communities and the various fleet sectors upon a given resource, and economic efficiency and fleet mobility (Atlancic Groundfish Management Plan 1984).

These principles were designed to provide a basis for resource allocation decisions during the 1980s; however, as this thesis will show, they were not always adhered to or applied consistently on a regional basis. The lack of agreement between user groups on major allocation issues resulted in such issues ending up "on the Minister's desk for decision" (Parsons 1993; 157).

It is also interesting to note that since the crisis of the early 1990s the "basic principles" of the Atlantic Groundfish Management Planchanged to "guidelines" in 1993 and two special clauses have been added.

> XII. Adjustments in the inshore/offshore ratios for particular stocks may be considered by the minister.

> XIII. Allocations may be made for special programs in specific stock areas included within the Canadian quota (Atlantic Groundfish Management Plan 1995).

Both of these measures have increased the power of the Minister of Fisheries and

Oceans and have led to a great deal of uncertainty with respect to future allocations.

Chapter 4: Past Allocations of Northern Cod

It is apparent that the policies enunciated by the Department of Fisheries and Oceans and expressed in the Groundfish Management Plan's have been only words on paper to be ignored or disregarded at will. (Stele *et al* 1992)

The purpose of this section is to document the allocation and catches of Northern cod since Canada took management control following the declaration of the 200 mile limit on January 1, 1977, up to collapse of the stock in the early 1990s, and the subsequent declaration of a moratorium on commercial harvesting on July 2, 1992. During this fifteen year period Northern cod was consistently at the centre of the controversy surrounding Canada's management of Atlantic fisheries and was therefore subject to a number of task forces, special studies, and publications with respect to its management. In almost all cases the allocation of the resource between regions, fleet sectors, gear types and the splits between the inshore and offshore sectors were the focal points of these reports. The allocations to various user groups and their resultant catch is given in Appendix one and shown graphically in Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.2.

These figures are a result of combining and manipulating the various data bases that exist and presenting these data in a form that addresses the stated objective concerning resource allocation decisions,

Since the setting of the TAC impacts directly upon the allocation process, the first section will review the scientific advice and TACs with respect to Northern cod. The





Sources: 1977 - 1979 - CAFSAC - 92/75, and NORDCO 1981: 1980 - 1991 -Canadian Groundfish Management Plans and Quota Reports.

Figure 4.1: Inshore, Canadian Offshore and Foreign Allocations of Northern Cod 1977 -1991. 39





Sources: 1977 - 1979 - CAFSAC - 92/75, and NORDCO 1981; 1980-1991 - Canadian Groundfish Management Plans and Quota Reports.

Figure 4.2: Inshore, Canadian Offshore and Foreign Catches of Northern Cod 1977-1991.

second section examines the stated objectives and principles of allocation and is followed by an overview of how the TAC was allocated by Canada to foreign nations and to the domestic inshore and offshore sectors.

4.1 Setting the Total Allowable Catch

Following Canada's extension of jurisdiction, the adoption of the TAC as a means for fisheries management posed a very difficult problem; TACs are set based on harvesting a certain percentage of the total fishable biomass, thus it is essential that the size of the biomass be known. This requirement led to a rapid increase in fisheries stock assessment by the Department of Fisheries and Oceans in the post-1977 period. Since Canada did not have a time series of research vessel surveys prior to 1977 and the Canadian offshore fleet had little or no presence in the Northern cod fishery before this date, the assessment of the Northern cod stock in the 1977 to 1986 period was conducted by the Northwest Atlantic Fisheries Organization (NAFO). Canadian scientists participated in the NAFO scientific process and gradually acquired a time-series of Canadian research vessel surveys and Canadian offshore each tate data that enabled them to carry out their own assessments in 1987 (DFO 1988).

Unfortunately, during this transition period very optimistic resource projections lead to intense pressure with respect to the future allocation of the Northern cod stock. These projections resulted in non-surplus allocations to foreign countries, allocations to the Canadian offshore sector and to new users from other regions. During the early 1980s it

also became obvious that the inshore sector was not seeing an increase in the resource. In fact the inshore fixed gear fisheries, a sector which had traditionally harvested 200,000 to 250,000 mt. of Northern cod in the 1860-1960 period was unable to catch its 115,000 mt, allocation during the 1980s. Initially, the failure of the Northern cod stock to migrate inshore was blamed on cold water (CAFSAC 1986) but the inshore failure worsened and lead to the appointment of the Alverson Task Force on Newfoundland Inshore Fisheries in August 1987. Also, in December 1986, the Newfoundland Inshore Fisheries Association (NIFA) released a report it had commissioned by fisheries scientists at Memorial University of Newfoundland. The Keats Report raised very serious concerns over the use of offshore catch rates in the estimation of biomass size and that the stock biomass had been consistently over-estimated (Keats et al. 1986). The retrospective analysis conducted by CAFSAC in 1988 illustrates the magnitude of the problem (Table 4.1). If Canada had known that in 1981 the TAC should have been 120,000 mt, instead of the 250,000 mt, advised by the NAFO Scientific Council the TAC would not have been set at 200,000 mt. The over-estimation of TACs in the early 1980s resulted in high levels of exploitation through the allocation of non-surplus fish to foreign countries and the allocation in excess of 100,000 mt. of Northern cod to the Canadian offshore sector. Both of these decisions had a very detrimental effect on the traditional inshore sector.

In allocating the Northern cod TAC, the inshore sector was accorded first priority; "the inshore allocation is taken off the top (ie. the inshore sector gets the first slice of the pie)" (DFO 1989). However, in reality, the inshore sector never received its share. For

			2J3KL Cor	-	
Year	Advised	Tac	Retrospective	Difference	Catch
	Fo.1		Fo.1	(Advised - Retro)	
1975		554.000			288.000
1976		300.000			214,000
1977	160.000	160.000	45.000	115.000	173.000
1978	160.000	135.000	60.000	100.000	139.000
1979	200.000	180.000	00006	110.000	167.000
1980	210.000	180.000	110.000	100.000	176.000
1981	250.000	200.000	120.000	130.000	171.000
1982	270.000	230.000	130.000	140.000	230.000
1983	300.000	260.000	140.000	160.000	232.000
1984	270.000	266.000	165.000	105.000	230.000
1985	270.000	266.000	180.000	90,000	232.000
1986	240.000	266.000	215.000	25.000	252.000
1987	240.000	256.000	120.000	120.000	235.000
1988	293.000	266.000			269.000
1989	125.000	235.000			253.000
1990	NA	199.000			219.000
1991	N/A	190.000		-	171.000
1992		WK	DRATORIUM IMPOSEI	0 JULY 2. 1992	

Table 4.1: Retrospective Analysis of Northern Cod TAC's

Source: CAFSAC 1987 - 1989; CAFSAC 1992

example, in 1989 when scientists discontinued using offshore catch rates and recommended a TAC of 125,000 mt. the Minister of Fisheries and Oceans set the TAC at 235,000 tonnes. This resulted in a catch of 254,000 mt. with Canadian and foreign offshore mobile gear vessels catching 150,555 ntt.. Not surprisingly, the inshore fishery failed to harvest its allowance, but through increased effort, smaller mesh sizes and moving further from shore it managed to catch 102,869 mt. of fish, much of very small size (CAFSAC 1992: 19). The small size was also evident in offshore catches.

While the setting of appropriate TACs and the interaction between science and fishermen is critical to future management (Finlayson 1994), it is not the subject of this thesis. Yet, the fact cannot be ignored that the level of the TAC indirectly affects the allocation process especially when stocks are over-exploited and at low levels of abundance. Under such circumstances mobile gear vessels are able to maintain catch rates by hunting for fish while passive fixed gear catches invariably decline. The role of scientists in setting TACs and the implications for allocation issues were highlighted in an address by Mr. Cabot Martin at the 1994 annual meeting of the Ame.ican Fisheries Society:

> If the cod comes back every inshore fisherman knows that FPI and National Sea will be back, too. But this time we know the fatal consequences of a half-fought battle; this time we will be ready; and this time, if God gives us a "this time", I hope to see more fisheries scientists on our side of the barricades (Matrin 1994).

4.2 Foreign Allocations and Overfishing

The declaration of the 200 mile Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) on January 1, 1977 was expected to bring about an end to the over-exploitation of the Northern cod stock by foreign fleets. However, foreign harvests of Northern cod have continued and even increased during the 1980s. Foreign catches are of two types: those occurring within the Canadian EEZ through bilateral agreements with Canada, and those occurring outside of 200 miles in the area known as the "Nose of the Bank". Canada's management of the Northern cod fishery since 1977 has always been a fine balancing act of allocating resources inside the zone in return for market access and/or cooperation in not fishing outside the zone. The allocations to foreign countries inside the 200 mile limit, the subsequent catch and the "illegal" catch outside the zone in the 1977 to 1991 period are shown in Figure 4.3. The allocation and catches by country are given in Table 4.2. The foreign allocations inside the Canadian zone was a very controversial issue with respect to Northern cod in the late 1970s and early 1980s as Canada took responsibility for the management of the Northern cod stock (Parsons 1993; Harris 1990). In 1977, Canada extended jurisdiction but "treated 1977 as a transitional year. Accordingly, it adopted the TAC and national allocations agreed to in ICNAF during 1976" (Parsons 1993; 244) therefore, foreign countries were allocated 90,000 mt. of the 160,000 mt. TAC. In retrospect, the TAC for 1977 at the Four level of fishing mortality should have been only



Source: Lear and Parsons 1993

Figure 4.3: Foreign Allocations and Catches of 2J+3KL Cod (mt) as reported to NAFO

46

COUNTRY	-		-	116	-	61.6	-	510	=				-	116	-	Ŧ
	*	U	*	u	•	U	*	U	•	v	*	U	•	U	*	
BULGARIA	8	•	•	•	•	•	•	0	•	•	•	•	•			
Y	0111	=	32	*	1.400	110.1	8	2	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	
100		1	•	1	•	I	2,500	I		I	000	1	4.210	1	0.10	ì
VANOIS	246		3	2	8	32	8	111	2		8	240	8	416		
NANCE.	000		100		200		3			•	8	100	-	-		2
				101		1		4114	••	••			1.123			20
	-	-	1		-		1							• •		-
		-		1	200						3					2"
A STATEMENT					8		23			1						
									2		-			-		
TACK TO A											012.1		. 400		A 74.6	
OMANDA				-	-			-			-	-		-	-	
TALA OF																-
						1		101				-				1
APAN .	-	-			-							100				
2 CDC		-				-		-		-		-				
OTAL	91.140	91.159	000 80	ia.182	25.040	30.120	20,700	24.230	00+11	23.677	13.400	22.24	17.840	12 893	14.200	2
ARTNUO	81		*	-	5		=		61	=	*	8	*	ē		
	•	U	•	U	•	v	•	v	*	v		U	*	0		
ULGABLA	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	0		•	•	•		
VBN	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•		
	9300	1	9 209	1	9.500	1	0	1	•	1		1		13		
SIOK						1				-		-				
		-	1		1				DCA.		1	1	-			
ALY		-				-			0	•	0	-				
	011	•	0(1	123	2	-	•	•	•	1	0	•	•			
DR	•	-	•	-	•	-	•		•	2	0	•	-			
AVABO			•	1214		•	•	•	•	••						
	-	-						••••				1110				
		1		N.M.				1		-				-		
NDV NOV		1041				102		17.419		616-11	0	9 782	0	6 193		
258	0	2	•	1	0	-	•	3	•	56	•	-		-		
TAN T	•	1	•	22	•	Ξ	•	-		2				•••		
	•		•	-	•		-					-	•	•		

Table 4.2: Northern Cod Allocations and Catches by Country 1977 to 1991 (From: Lear and parsons 1993. Fage 77)

LEC. Allarmons we derrieved to Fracea, Fateral Republic of Garaary and Userol Kapene, acros (1943 and 1942-1947, 1945) (Reput any provinsion) 1945) Artimus and 1948, 1940 and 1941 are Iron CATSAC Are. Docs. 21(2) and 22(2).

45,000 mt. (CAFSAC, 1987). Thus in restrospect the foreign allocation represented fishing at twice the desired level of fishing mortality.

During the 1977 to 1980 period the "surplus" allocations of Northern cod decreased from 90,000 mt. to 25,000 mt. and by 1981 increasing Canadian effort meant there was no longer any "surplus". In the 1981 to 1987 period Canada allocated nonsurplus amounts of Northern cod to foreign countries in return for market access and cooperation in conservation of straddling stocks and highly migratory species such as salmon (Sullivan 1989, Parsons 1993, Day 1995). During the early 1980s the euphoria of the projected growth of Northern cod stock began to dissipate as the inshore sector consistently failed to harvest its allowance of 115,000 mt. The TACs, which were projected to grow to 400,000 mt. at $F_{0.1}$, peaked at 266,000 mt. and, in light of the consistent overestimation of the biomass, should have been much lower.

The pressure to reduce non-surplus allocations to foreign nations increased as Canada's offshore fleet began to harvest all of its allocation (Kirby 1983). Consequently, during the 1982 to 1986 period, fishing outside of the 200 mile limit began to increase as Canada no longer had the surplus resources to "buy" the cooperation of other nations.

The European Community (E.C.) was the main beneficiary of the non-surplus allocations of Northern cod as the result of a long-term agreement (LTA) signed with Canada on December 30, 1981 to extend to December 31, 1987.

> This Agreement exchanged, inter alia, quotas in Canadian waters for E.C. vessels for tariff quotas at reduced rates for fish products of interest to Canadian exporters. An integral part of the LTA was

that Canada gave the E.C. catch quotas of non-surplus Northern cod from within the Canadian zone on the understanding that E.C. member nations would not fish for this species or NAFO managed stocks outside the 200 mile limit beyond the quotas set by NAFO for the EC (Sulfivan 1989: 127).

This attempt to buy cooperation failed and the problem of overfishing the Northern cod stock outside of 200 miles escalated during the 1982 to 1986 period (Parsons 1993, Lear and Parsons 1993, Sullivan 1989). 1985 proved to be a critical year for Canada's foreign allocation policy when oceanographic conditions caused an unusual abundance of fish to occur outside the 200 mile limit on the Nose of the Bank. Having harvested its share of the LTA inside the zone, the Federal Republic of Germany began fishing outside the zone and harvested 15,000 mt. of Northern cod in excess of its quota. The following year Spain and Portugal, which had consistently overfished their allocations, joined the European Community (Lear and Parsons 1993). Unfortunately, the harvesting capacity of the Spanish and Portuguese fleets could not be accommodated within European waters and the exclusion of the Spanish from other areas such as Namibia meant that the Spanish and Portuguese targeted the unprotected area outside of Canada's 200 mile limit (Day 1995). This led the E.U. to consistently use the "objection procedure" at NAFO. In essence, this allows any member not agreeing with its quota to "object" and set its own unilateral quota. In the case of Northern cod, the E.C. used the objection procedure continuously from 1986 to 1992. Despite the fact that NAFO agreed to a moratorium on fishing cod outside of 200 miles in 3L, the E.C. set unilateral quotas for the 1986 to 1991 period for a total of 346.360 mt, while reporting to NAFO a catch of 206,123 mt. for the same period. Canadian estimates place the catch at higher levels, for example, in 1991 the E.C. reported a catch of 22,835 mt. of Northern cod whereas the Canadian estimate was 41,900 mt (CAFSAC 1992).

In summary, Canada initially began a phase-out of foreign vessels through surplus allocations (though retrospectively these allocations were not truly surplus) in the late 1970s and during the early 1980s Canada tried to use non-surplus allocations of Northern cod to get other nations to limit their catches outside of 200 miles. The 1986 to 1992 period resulted in increased conflict with the European Community, and the overfishing outside of 200 miles intensified. Following Canada's declaration of a moratorium on Northern cod on July 2, 1992 an agreement to respect the moratorium was reached with the European Community.

The only allocation of Northern cod to foreign countries since the expiry of the LTA in 1987 has been to France. In order to get France to agree to a boundary settlement in area 3Ps the Government of Canada granted France an allocation of Northern cod notwithstanding the strong opposition of the fishing industry and the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. In the words of then Premier, Brian Peckford, "They sold the shop!"

4.3 Inshore Allocation

The history of the inshore sector was essentially the history of the Northern cod fishery up until the development of foreign factory freezer trawlers in the 1950s. The inshore sector operated on a seasonal basis using passive fixed gear which exploited the cod stock during its spring and summer migrations to coastal waters. The catch was subject to annual variations but in the 1850 to 1950 period usually ranged between 200,000 to 300,000 mt. (Lear and Parsons 1993, Harris 1990). With the expansion of the foreign offshore effort in the 1950s and 1960s total catches soared to 810,000 mt. in 1968. By 1974, the inshore catch plummeted to 34,000 mt. as the result of the stock collapse. The declaration of a 200 mile limit meant that the historically dependent inshore sector, and the communities which were nearly totally dependent upon the Northern cod stock, finally had hopes of renewed control of the resource, and expansions were made in both the harvesting and processing sector to reap the economic benefit of a rebuilt Northern cod stock.

The concept of first priority in allocation of the TAC to the inshore sector was repeatedly stated in the 1977 to 1980 period with, then Minister, Romeo LeBlanc stating the following with respect to Northern cod allocations:

> I have a clear bias for the inshore fisherman, not because of some romantic regard, not because of his picture on the calendars, but because he cannot travel far after fish, because he depends on fishing for his income, because his community in turn depends on his fishery being protected (Parsons 1993: 123).

Subsequently, the Department of Fisheries and Oceans released resource projections for the Northern cod stock which forecast 1985 landings of 400,000 mt. at $F_{0.1}$ or 350,000 mt. if an exploitation rate below $F_{0.1}$ were adopted (DFO 1978). This stock was projected to be the major growth area for all Atlantic Canada and offshore vessels, displaced from the Gulf, were subsidized to fish for Northern cod in 2J+3KL. Meanwhile, at the special Government - Industry seminar on the management and allocation of Northern cod in August 1979 the then Minister of Fisheries and Oceans, the Honourable James McGrath, stated that:

> the Northern cod were the staff of life to the people of Northeast Newfoundland and Labrador...that the policy of the government was that the inshore fisherman had first call on this resource (Lear and Parsons 1993: 66).

The paper on the utilization of Northern cod presented at the seminar estimated that

the inshore sector would be able to harvest only 230,000 mt. and therefore based on the

350,000 mt. which would be available in 1985, 120,000 mt. would be available to the

Canadian offshore sector and foreign nations through bilateral agreements (DFO 1979).

With respect to allocation the seminar concluded that

The first and overriding priority in allocations is to the inshore sector. The consensus from the seminar participants was that two thirds of the TAC of Northern cod should be set aside as an allowance for the inshore fishery (DFQ, 1979).

The Province of Newfoundland disagreed with the decision to introduce new users

and argued that

The inshore could and should take up to 85% of the Northern cod catch and that any residual should be taken by Newfoundland based offshore effort to supply resource short plants in Newfoundland (DFO 1979).

Both positions assumed a stock capable of supporting a 350,000 to 400,000 mt.

TAC by 1985. Given the euphoria associated with gaining control of this vast resource,

the allocations of 25,000 mt, per year to foreign countries and 120,000 mt, per year to new entrants in the form of Canadian offshore wetfish trawlers were not initially seen as a problem. However, the stock projections were subsequently revised downwards and the fact that the inshore sector was unable to catch its allowance of 115,000 mt. during the early 1980s meant that increases in the TAC went to the Canadian offshore sector. The result was that the inshore sector, which was promised first priority in allocation and were supposed to get two thirds of the TAC was, by 1986, receiving only 43% of the TAC as an allocation and, due to the low level of the stock and foreign harvest outside 200 miles, was accounting for only 26% of the total catch (Appendix One). During the 1982 to 1988 period the inshore sector faced repeated catch failures and hired their own scientist to argue that the TAC was not realistic. The dramatic shift in the scientific advice which resulted in a recommended TAC of 125,000 mt. at Fo.1 for 1989 (CAFSAC 1989) would have permitted only an inshore fishery if the scientific advice and the allocation policies had been followed; however, the TAC issue became very political and the final 1989 TAC was announced by the Minister of Fisheries and Oceans at 235,000 mt. down from 266,000 the previous year and with all the cuts borne by the offshore sector. The inshore fishery caught 95,000 mt, in 1989 or 37% of the total catch of 254,000 mt. The TAC for 1990 was set at 199.282 mt, with the cuts again borne by the offshore sector, however, the TAC far exceeded the advice of the DFO scientists, the Harris Panel or the level that the stock could sustain (Steele et al. 1992: Hutchings and Myers 1994; Martin 1995).

The 1991 to 1993 TACs were set on a three year plan which would see the TACs gradually reduced symbolically from 190,000 mt. in 1991 to 185,000 mt. in 1992 and to 180,000 mt. in 1993. Again these TACs were of political origin and did not reflect the scientific advice or the long standing commitment of priority allocation to the inshore sector (Steele et al. 1992: Martin 1995). The allocation and catches of the inshore fixed gear sector are given in Appendix one and shown graphically in Figure 4.4. Given the retrospective error in setting TACs in the early 1980s and the political TACs of the 1989 to 1992 period, it is clear that despite the promises and priorities, the inshore sector never became the beneficiary of the "recovery" of the Northern cod stock associated with the 200 mile limit. From 1977 to 1992 the inshore sectors allocation accounted for 50% of the total accumulative TACs and the inshore fixed gear catch was only 42.5 % of the total catch of Northern cod. In hindsight, the consistent failure of the inshore sector and the fact that its catch in the 1977 to 1991 period averaged only 89,000 mt. should have been sufficient evidence to seriously question the health of the Northern cod stock. Despite new technology, better vessels, better gear and new modern processing facilities, the inshore sector which traditionally caught 200,000 to 300,000 mt. could not catch its new reference point of 115,000 mt! The percentage allocation to the inshore in the 1977 to 1991 period never reached the two thirds recommended by the Northern cod seminar in 1979 or the 85% recommended by the provincial government (Figure 4.5). It is also worth noting that the 2/3 allocation was based on catching 230,000 mt, of the projected landings of 350,000 mt. by 1985.



Sources: 1977 - 1979 - CAFSAC - 92/75, and NORDCO 1981; 1980 - 1991 - Canadian Groundfish Management Plans and Quota Reports

Figure 4.4: Inshore Allocations and Catches of 2J+3KL Cod for 1977 - 1991



Sources: 1977 - 1979 - CAFSAC - 92/75, and NORDCO 1981; 1980 - 1991 - Canadian Groundfish Management Plans and Quota Reports

Figure 4.5: Inshore % share of the Northern Cod TAC Catch 1977 - 1991 in relation to National and Provincial stated objectives.

In summary, the Northern cod stock never recovered to the point where the needs of other users should have superseded the inshore's "priority allocation". By the time the biological reality became apparent, however, most of Atlantic Canada's offshore fishery had become dependent upon Northern cod and the inshore sectors concerns and demands were either ignored or treated the same as those of the growing number of other users competing for their share of the Northern cod stock.

4.4 Offshore Allocation

Since the sector management plan applies to all inshore vessels < 65 ft. and vessels over 65 ft. operate on Atlantic-wide licences, all vessels greater than 65 ft. are considered offshore for the purpose of this analysis. The allocation and catches for the various offshore sectors is given in Appendix One and shown graphically in Figure 4.6. The Canadian offshore sector consists of predominately mobile gear vessels (98% of total offshore catch) using otter trawl technology to harvest fish in the offshore area, primarily during the winter and early spring. This is the time when Northern cod form dense prespawning and spawning concentrations. Prior to 1977 the Canadian offshore fleet had no significant presence in the Northern cod fishery with catches in the 1960s and early 1970s being in the range of 2000 mt. per year as a by-catch in the flounder fishery in 3L (Parsons 1993).


Sources: 1977 - 1979 - CAFSAC - 92/75, and NORDCO 1981; 1980 - 1991 - Canadian Groundfish Management Plans and Quota Reports

Figure 4.6: Canadian Offshore (>65 ft.) Allocation and Catches of Northern Cod, 1977 - 1991.

At the time of the declaration of the 200 mile limit, the offshore sector, consisting of mainly side trawlers from the south coast of Newfoundland and Nova Scotia, were in the saidst of a resource crisis due to declines in their traditional fishing areas in the Gulf of St. Lawrence. The Gulf redfish and cod stocks upon which this fleet and their plants depended had collapsed and the resultant low TACs were not capable of accommodating both Gulf-based and non-Gulf-based users. The inshore sector in the Gulf of St. Lawrence argued that they were capable of catching all the TACs in the Gulf despite the fact that the offshore vessels from the South coast of Newfoundland and the Scotian shelf for the previous decade harvested 60% of their catch in the Gulf. The "solution" to the overcapacity problem in the Gulf was the Northern cod stock off the Northeast coast of Newfoundland and Labrador which was projected to grow rapidly (DFO 1978). The 1977 Atlantic Groundfish Management Plan was the first by Canada and "attempted to address the problem of resource shortage in the Gulf by pushing the more mobile Nova Scotia and Newfoundland-based trawler fleets out of the Gulf and encouraging the Gulf based offshore trawler fleet to fish outside the Gulf" (Parsons 1993: 120).

In announcing the 1977 plan, the Hon. Romeo LeBlanc stated that the Gulf-based "intermediate and small boats, more than 10,000 of them, had only limited range. Hence, the large trawler fleet had the duty and opportunity of going further afield". In fact, the Government of Canada subsidized the offshore sector to fish for Northern cod in the late 1970s because of the uncertainty with respect to the viability of Canadian vessels fishing cod during the winter off the coast of Labrador; thus, the overcapacity problem in the Gulf was solved by shifting the offshore sector out of the Gulf. In 1979 the non-Gulf-based vessels' cod allocations in the Gulf were again reduced "in order to provide for adequate fishing opportunities for existing vessels in the Gulf" (Parsons 1993: 125). Consequently, the overcapacity problem was not solved, it was merely shifted from the Gulf of St. Lawrence to the Northeast coast of Newfoundland and Labrador where the resource prospects were supposed to be better. This process of "shifting the burden" continued throughout the 1980s as Northern cod became the solution to resource problems elsewhere in Atlantic Canada.

The Canadian offshore sectors share of the Northern cod stock increased rapidly from 11% in 1977 to 35% in 1981 and by 1986 accounted for 55% of the allocation (See Appendix One and Figure 4.6). Because of the success of the offshore sector, a number of new users and fleet sectors became a part of the Northern cod fishery in the 1980s with new allocations to vessels in the 65 to 100 ft. class which were resource short on the Scotian Shelf. The Kirby Task Force report recommendations resulted in allocations to a new class of "Scandinavian" longliners as named in the Kirby Report and also allocations to the Resource Short Plant Program (RSPP); both programs were designed to catch fish offshore and deliver it to inshore "resource short" plants on the Norcheast coast of Newfoundland which were seriously impacted by the "failure" of the inshore fishery. Again resource-short plants elsewhere in Atlantic Canada were included in this program which was expanded to ensure 25% of the total RSPP allocation wnnt to plants outside of Newfoundland and Labrador (Parsons 1993). The offshore sector's entry into the Northern cod fishery was the focus of the Northern Cod Seminar in Corner Brook in August 1979, and the success of the offshore sector in catching its allocations in record time resulted in increased quotas and the introduction of an enterprise allocation program for mobile gear vessels greater than 100 ft. During the early 1980s it was difficult not to admire the success of the offshore sector which was landing in excess of 120,000 mt. (250 million lbs.) annually and which only a few years earlier had required subsidies and incentives to fish the Northern cod stock. However, in retrospect, the offshore sector's success was like admiring the pump without knowing what was in the we!! (Leopold 1948).

The offshore catch rates on spawning concentrations were used by NAFO and DFO scientists to calculate the Northern cod biomass and thus the TAC, however, this was discontinued in 1987 when it became clear that the catch rate was a function of technology rather than an indicator of abundance (Keats *et al.* 1986; CAFSAC 1987). Thus, between 1980 and 1987 the offshore catch rate led to TACs which were too high and, therefore, increased the offshore share. The refusal of the Government of Canada to set TACs at the stated management objective of F_{0.1} in the 1989 to 1992 period also increased the share of the offshore sector. During the 1980s it was apparent that the offshore sector received special consideration due to its ability to catch its quota and employ a large number of people while the inshore fixed gear sector fell into a cycle of inshore failures, make work programs and a high dependence on Unemployment Insurance.

Chapter 5: Impacts of Allocation Decisions

May concluded by stating he was unsure such a hilurcated system (inshore)diffshore) could work and that the government must decide on whether or not there shall be a population on the northern part of the east coast of Canada (Dr. A. May, April 1982 memorandum to Kirby Task Forer as quoted in Shrank 1995).

The allocation of fisheries resources creates an atmosphere of winners and losers since the allocation of a ton of fish translates into ecotomic value and subsequently social benefit. In 1988 1,000 mt. of cod was estimated to create 17 person years of employment in the inshore sector and to have a landed value of \$460 per ton (DFO 1988). These numbers will be used to conduct a preliminary assessment of the economic value and employment associated with the allocation process. The spatial shift in the allocation of Northern cod had impacts on the international, national, regional and local levels and these impacts will be examined in terms of the shift in allocations and landings in the 1977 to 1991 period. A further evaluation of the stated goals and objectives in the allocation of Northern cod will also be examined with respect to actual decisions since many of the goals and objectives were based on socio-economic policy.

5.1 Stated Objectives vs. Actual Decisions

The stated objectives of allocation of the Northern cod stock are very clearly captured in the management plans, ministerial speeches, press releases and reports of special seminars during the late 1970s. The social and economic objective was to rebuild the Northern cod stock for the benefit of inshore finhermen who were adjacent to the resource and historically dependent upon it. The inshore fixed gear sector was to be given "first priority in allocation" or "first call on the fish". Based on the allocations and catches for the 1977 to 1991 period, it is obvious that this objective was never realized. In fact, just the opposite occurred.

In 1977 an abrupt shift occurred in the spatial scale of management of the Northern ord resource as a 200 mile limit enclosed the bulk of the resource for Canada and shifted management responsibility from the international to the national scale. Unfortunately, this occurred simultaneously with severe resource shortages in the Gulf of St. Lawrence and also at a time of overly optimistic resource projections forecasting a major increase in the Northern cod stock to a TAC of 400,000 mt. at Fat (DF0 1978) which was the basis for allocations to the Canadian offshore sector and foreign countries. These error-laden projections were also the basis of the subsequent mismanagement and over-exploitation between 1977 and 1988. Since the Northern cod stock was going to grow to allow a TAC of 400,000 mt. by Fai 1985 (350,000 mt. at a lower exploitation level), it was seen as a developmental opportunity. It was estimated that the inshore sector would only be able to harvest 230,000 mt. or roughly two thirds of the TAC and, therefore, a minimum of 120,000 mt. would be available to new Canadian users and foreign fleets (DFO 1979). The allocations were made to the Canadian offshore sector and foreign fleets on the basis of these projections. When the fish failed to materialize in the inshore sector, the first reaction was to explain it as a seasonal fluctuation brought about by cold water or abundance of capelin offshore (CAFSAC 1986). This was generally accepted because the Canadian offshore sector and foreign vessels had no problem catching their allocations. In retrospect, based on the revised TACs provided by CAFSAC (Table 4.1), the TAC at $F_{0.1}$ in the 1977 to 1992 period would never have been high enough to have allowed allocations to the Canadian offshore sector or foreign fleets.

The biological impact of the allocations was significant since the rebuilding objective was to achieve a spawning biomass of 1.2 million metric tons to ensure the longterm viability of the resource (DFO 1989). Initially, following the extension of jurisdiction considerable rebuilding occurred. However, over-exploitation from the early 1980s to 1992 resulted in very little if any rebuilding and eventually lead to collapse of the stock (Figure 5.1). If there had been adherence to the stated goals and objectives of the late 1970s, this over-exploitation would not have occurred since the inshore sector would not likely have been able to exert enough fishing pressure to cause the stock to decline.

5.2 Economic Impacts on Fleet Sectors and Regions

The social and economic impact of Canada's allocation decisions on the inshore sector was also severe. Between 1977 and 1991, 317,202 mt. of Northern cod was allocated to foreign nations. The subsequent total foreign catch of 546,997 mt. translates into 9,299 person years of employment and \$251,700,670 of landed value in 1988 dollars Table 5.1). Likewise, the Canadian offshore sector was allocated 1,327,835 mt. and harvosted 1,286,187 mt. which equates to 21,865 person years of employment and \$591,838,948 landed value in 1988 dollars.



Source: CAFSAC 1995

Figure 5.1: Northern Cod Spawning Biomass 1962 - 1994.

Sector	Allocation(mt)	Person years*	Value (S)	Catch (mt)	Person years'	Value (S)
Inshore	1.651.225	28.071	\$759.811.184	1.358.854	23.101	5625 276.60B
Canadian Offshore	1.327.835	22.573	\$611.003.275	1 286 187	21 865	S501 838 048
Foreion	606 211	2015 2	5146 960 500	546.997	005 0	S261 700 670
Total	3.066.262	56 036	\$1 516 774 959	3 102 038	FA 285	S1 468 816 286

Table 5.1: Cumulative Allocations and Catches of Northern Cod between 1977 - 1992 and the Social and Economic Impacts

66

Obviously, the inshore sector would not have received the entire amount of the value or employment associated with the allocations to other nations or the Canadian offshore sector. But notwithstanding the potential availability of fish, the allocations to other sectors contributed to a poor inshore fishery in the 1980s, one characterized by catch failures, make work programs and abuses of the Unemployment Insurance Program. Despite the stated goals and objectives, other regions of Atlantic Canada with more diverse economies and countries on the other side of the Atlantic received a greater combined benefit from Canada's management and allocation of the Northern cod slock than did the inshore fishermen in the coastal communities adjacent to and historically dependent upon the resource.

5.3 Spatial Shift in the Distribution of the Landings

In addition to sharing the conomic and employment benefits between sectors, the allocation process also directly affected the geographic distribution of the Northern cod landings. The concepts of adjacency and historic dependence of fleets and coastal communities, while written into the groundfish allocation principles, were ignored (Steele et al. 1992). From 1977 to 1991 a significant geographic redistribution of Northern cod landings was evident. Figure 5.2 illustrates the changes in redistribution of Canadian landings of Northern cod between 1978 and 1988. The increased levels of landings in Nova Scolia and the South coast of Newfoundland were the result of the allocations to the Canadian offshore sector. Between 1977 and 1991 Nova Scolia received 273,358 mt.



Source: DFO Statistics 1978 - 1988, St. John's, NF.



of Northern cod which equated to 4,647 person years of employment and a landed value of approximately \$126 million dollars (Figure 5.3) despite the fact Nova Scotia was neither adjacent to nor historically dependent upon the Northern cod resource. Meanwhile, communities on the Labrador coast and the Northeast coast of Newfoundland, which had been built on the basis of hundreds of years of harvesting Northern cod, were no longer major players in the Northern cod fishery (Figure 5.4). The fact that by 1988 there were no communities in 2J or 3K in the top 15 landing ports was the result of increased allocations to the offshore sector.

The allocation of cod to the Newfoundland offshore sector resulted in nearly yearround employment to communities with offshore plants such as Ramea, Burgeo, Gaultois, Grand Bank, Fortune, Harbour Breton, Marystown and Arnold's Cove. Likewise, on the Northeast coast, communities with offshore plants such as Catalina, St. John's, Trepassey, Harbour Grace prospered, with total landings of up to 80,000 mt. per year. While the economic value of Northern cod to these communities cannot be ignored, it must be remembered that most of these communities and their fish plants were not built on the basis of the Northern cod resource and had been historically dependent upon the cod and redfish stocks in the Gulf (4RST) and on St. Pierre Bank (3Ps) and the cod, haddock and flounder stocks on the Southern Grand Banks (3NO). The expulsion of the offshore fleet from the Gulf in 1977 led to the first offshore allocations of Northern cod, with the Federal Government subsidizing the fleets to fish in the North. Subsequently, the failure



Source: NORDCO 1977 - 1979; Canadian Groundfish Management Plans 1980 - 1992

Figure 5.3: Nova Scotian landings of Northern Cod 1977 - 1992.





of NAFO to manage the straddling stocks on the Grand Banks (Rowe 1993; Day 1995) resulted in the further decline of the traditional resource base of the offshore fleet during the mid-1980s to the extent that the Newfoundland offshore sector became almost totally dependent upon Northern cod by the late 1980s. Thus, when faced with a recommended TAC of 125,000 mt. in 1989, the then Minister of Fisheries and Oceans stated "I can't close down entire communities or regions of Atlantic Canada". In essence, the allocation decisions of the late 1980s were not about sharing a growing resource, they were instead focused on securing access to and maintaining shares of a declining resource. In effect, the Government of Canada's politically-motivated setting of the TAC through the 1989 to 1992 period was in effect "robbing Peter to pay Paul". Since there were no new fish to allocate, there was no alternative but to keep the offshore allocations in place by artificially inflating the TAC while at the same time doing nothing about the unregulated foreign harvest outside of 200 miles.

In summary, the benefits of the limited growth in the Northern cod stock in the post 1977 period were not allocated to the inshore sector which had traditionally depended upon this resource for survival. In the 1977 to 1991 period inshore communities throughout Labrador and the Northeast coast of Newfoundland survived on make work projects and special assistance programs while the allocations decisions of the Government of Canada resulted in 4,647 person years of employment in Nova Scotia and even greater benefits to offshore communities, primarily on the south coast of Newfoundland, which received in excess of 17,000 person years of employment. Furthermore, the allocations to foreign countries and the uncontrolled harvest outside of 200 miles combined to a total catch of Northern cod by foreign nations which equates to 9,299 person years of employment.

A review of past actions taken and the consequences of those actions, however unintended, are critical factors in the formulation of future goals for fishery management. The failure to adhere to stated goals and objectives with respect to the priority of the inshore has resulted, at least in the near term, in the commercial extinction of the major fish resource in the North West Atlantic and the economic failure of hundreds of rural communities in North eastern Newfoundland and Coastal Labrador. Ironically this was predicted by Dr. A. May in 1983 when he stated that "the government must decide on whether or not there shall be a population on the northern part of the east Coast of Canada (Shrank 1995).

Chapter 6: Factors in the Future Allocation of Northern Cod

6.1 Statements of Goals and Objectives 1977 to 1992

The statement of goals and objectives is an essential part of natural resource management. Clearly defined goals and objectives are uncommon in fisheries management (Barber and Taylor 1990). When goals have been stated, they have been very general and refer to objectives such as best use, rationalization or conservation. These goals are "good for public relations and political gamesmanship but are difficult as use in effective rational management" (Barber and Taylor 1990): 366).

Unlike many fisheries resources the Northern cod stock was to be managed on the basis of a number of stated goals and objectives which included the biological goal of rebuilding the spawning biomass to 1.2 million metric tonnes (DFO 1989) (see Figure 5.1), and social and economic goals such as allocating the inshore fishery two thirds of the total catch, an estimated 230,000 of the projected 350,000 mt. TAC (400,000 mt. at $F_{n,1}$) (DFO 1979). Unfortunately, these biological and socio-economic goals and objectives were never realized or adhered to. In fact, there is considerable evidence of goal displacement as other objectives superseded allocation priority to the inshore and stock rebuilding. In order to examine the time period in detail, an eval-ation of the TACs and major reports such as the DFO Northern Cod Seminar, the Kirby Task Force, the Alverson Task Force and the Harris Panel was conducted. It is proposed that the fisheries

allocation/management process for Northern cod in the 1977 to 1992 period can be viewed

in three distinct phases;

- 1) Euphoria Phase: 1977 to 1981
 - Very optimistic resource projections.
 - Phase out of foreign fleets.
 - Statements of priority allocation to the inshore.
 - Workshops on how to share the future catch of 350,000 to 400,000 mt.
 - Resource problems in Gulf were addressed by the growing Northern cod stock.
- 2) Uncertainty Phase: 1982 to 1988
 - Offshore crisis and restructuring with in excess of 100,000 mt. of Northern cod allocated to get enterprise allocations in place.
 - Sector management implemented to restrict movement of vessels < 65 ft.
 - Inshore fishery consistently failing to catch its 115,000 mt. allocation.
 - Scientific advice less optimistic but still projecting growth.
 - DFO Science used to explain the failure of the inshore fishery.
 - Alverson Task Force on failure of inshore fishery.
 - Offshore continues to land its quota and report incredible abundance of fish on the offshore banks.
 - Larger inshore vessels begin to move offshore to areas such as the Virgin Rocks.
 - Traditional inshore adapts gear and effort to harvest 70,000 to 80,000 mt. per year, however, much of the catch is small fish.
- 3) Crisis Phase: 1989 to 1992
 - January 1989 Scientific advice for a TAC of 125,000 mt. in 1989 down from a TAC of 266,000 mt. in 1988.
 - Stock at low level with low levels of recruitment.
 - Offshore contends stock is okay.
 - Inshore agrees with scientists.
 - DFO sets TAC for 1989 at 235,000 mt. the total catch is 253,000 mt.
 - Inshore sector (NIFA) takes DFO to court to stop offshore harvest and loses.
 - Harris Panel reviews science and the stock and confirms the low level of biomass.

- 1990 TAC set at 200,000 mt.
- There is a 3 year plan of TACs for 1991-93 of 190,000, 185,000, and 180,000 mt.
- Stock collapses with small fish taken by all sectors.
- Offshore fails to catch its quota.
- Fishery closed on July 2, 1992.

The statements of goals and objectives for Northern cod were all made during the Euphoria Phase (1977 to 1981). However, the actual allocation decisions significantly departed from the intended objectives as a result of the resource crisis in the Gulf, bilateral arrangements with foreign countries and restructuring of the offshore sector. During the uncertainty phase (1982 to 1988) the TAC remained stable and therefore the allocation process was relatively problem-free with the major issue of contention being the determination of the size of the stock, the failure of the inshore fishery and access by other regions (Keats *et al.* 1986; CAFSAC 1986; Alverson 1987; Government of Newfoundland and Labrador 1987). The goals and objectives and, indeed, the principles of allocation were also ignored as was evident in the quota increases to the Canadian offshore sector, the middle distant fleet and the Resource Short Plant Program. At the same time, new users such as Nova Nord were demanding allocations of Northern cod and permission was granted to National Sea Products to use a factory freezer trawler to harvest Northern cod (Parsons 1993; Government of Newfoundland and Labrador 1985).

The crisis phase (1989-1992) is where the lack of adherence to goals and objectives became blatantly obvious and ultimately manifest in the collapse of the resource and the management process. In 1989, when faced with a recommended TAC of 125,000 mt. which was far below that required to satisfy the many demands, then Minister Tom Siddon refused to accept the advice because of the allocation implications (and set an interim TAC while the Harris Panel reviewed the situation). The 1990 report of the Harris Panel confirmed the scientific advice and recommended a reduced TAC; this key recommendation, which was the basis of the report, was not accepted by DFO. In the 3¼ years following the advice for a 125,000 mt. TAC, the total cumulative harvest exceeded 700,000 mt. much of it being very small fish. Finally, the resource collapsed in June 1992 and the stock was closed to commercial fishing for a period of 2 years. The moratorium has now been extended indefinitely. The primary cause of the problem has been that in a time of crisis the Department of Fisheries and Oceans abandoned its own policies (Steele *et al.* 1992).

6.2 Future Allocations, Goals and Objectives

Prior to and since the moratorium there have been numerous statements of goals and objectives for the management and allocation of Northern cod. The following provides an overview of the stated allocation policies put forward in recent studies and statements;

6.2.1 Harris Panel's Independent Review of the State of the Northern Cod Stock

Released in February 1990, the Harris Panel Report extended well beyond its original terms of reference and examined the stock as a whole. In the area of resource allocation the Panel recommended the following: that the principles of adjacency and of essential needs be adopted as a fundamental premise underlying quota allocations (page 6, Executive Summary),

the Panel also identified the need for goals in the fisheries management process and recommended:

> 19. That the Government of Canada should carefully re-examine its biological, ecological and socio-economic goals in respect of the fisheries to ensure that they are clearly defined, internally consistent, and attainable.

While the recommendations were general, the text of the report was much more

specific with respect to allocation:

It is still apparent that we should draw a distinction between conditions of stock abundance which all reasonable expectations for access can be met and conditions of stock depletion when no need can be wholly satisfied. In the Newfoundland context, it would seem altogether appropriate that first preference for access should in all cases go the communities configuous to the resource and whose survival is historically dependent upon it. In such circumstances it might well be appropriate to consider the adoption of a doctrine analogous to the Hague Preferences... to take into account the vital needs of local communities particularly dependent on fishing.../Page 40-41).

6.2.2 Dunne Report on the Implementation of the Harris Panels Recommendations

The Dunne Task Force was established in June 1990 to ensure the implementation

of the Harris Panel's recommendations. The Task Force recommendations with respect

to resource allocation were as follows:

Allocation priority to the inshore sector. Historical dependency and adjacency to be priorities in future allocations. Allocation of future quota increases to more selective gears. We recommend that the list of goals proposed here be taken as a minimum starting point for further discussion with industry.

6.2.3 Government of Newfoundland and Labrador - Changing Tides

The Government of Newfoundland and Labrador detailed its position on the

allocation of Northern cod in 1993 in its Changing Tides document:

Clearly defined fisheries allocation principles must guide fisheries management, and adjacency to the resource and historical dependence must be the underlying principles in resource allocation.

In the case of the 21,3KL cod fishery, the Province holds firmly that the traditional inshore fleet sector should receive, on an allowance basis, priority in the management of this stock; and at a TAC level below 100,000 tonnes the Province will support a bycatch provision for the offshore fishery. The resource allocation policy for this stock, should it exceed 100,000 tonnes, should be guided by the federal/provincial public harrings process conducted in those regions of the province which have had a presence in the Northern cod fishery.

6.2.4 Cashin Task Force on Income and Adjustments

The Task Force on income and adjustments in the Atlantic fishery (Cashin 1993)

has made the following statement with respect to resource allocation:

Capacity reduction should be based on the principle that coastal areas would maintain priority access to resources upon which they have traditional ly relied. For example, for northern cod there was a traditional inshore allowance (for vessels less than 65 feet) of 115,000 tonnes. Principally, the harvesters for this were from along northeast coast of Newfoundland and the coast of Labrador. It is unlikely that there will be a directed offshore fishery for northern cod in the future until the total allowable cacht approaches or exceeds the traditional inshore allowance (Cashin 1993; 40).

6.2.5 Minister of Fisheries and Oceans

In a speech to the St. John's Board of Trade on October 11, 1995 the Honourable Brian Tobin stated:

> Now, I believe and I remain committed to the notion of a mixed fishery with instone, with mid-shore and with offshore sectors, but I want to repeat an assurance I've already given, and that is that, as fishery resources rebuild, inshore fleets will be given first access to those resources.

6.2.6 Summary of Current Allocation Goals

Based upon the preceding quotes the inshore sector should receive priority allocation in the future. These stated goals and objectives reflect the same philosophical views as those expressed in the late 1970s, however, the specific goals and objectives have not been clearly identified except for those involving the first 100,000 mt. The questions that remain unanswered include whether the Government of Canada will allocate Northern cod to foreign nations in the future to control the fishery outside of 200 miles or whether the offshore sector will be allocated Northern cod once the TAC exceeds 100,000 mt.; or will exemptions to sector management allow inshore fishermen from elsewhere in Atlantic Canada to access the inshore allocation once the fishery reopens.

6.3 Allocation and Capacity Reduction

6.3.1 "Too many fishermen, chasing too few fish".

This is the often stated cliche to describe the Newfoundland inshore fishery and it is estimated that upwards of 50% of fishermen must leave the industry (Cashin 1993). However, in seeking a balance between the number of harvesters and the availability of the resource there are two sides to the equation (eg. number of fishermen and the amount of fish). The Department of Fisheries and Oceans controls both sides of the equation through its licencing policy and its allocation policy and, therefore, will decide the balance. The rebuilding of Northern cod stock offers a series of choices as summarized by Steele *et al* 1992:

> It is necessary to discuss and plan for the level to which the stock will be rebuilt, and at the same time determine how the stock will be harvested and by whom. Otherwise, projections about how many fishers....are unwarranted (Steele *et al.* 1992: 65).

Thus the rationalization or capacity reduction process can only take place after the goals and objectives of resource allocation are agreed. For example, the inshore fishermen in the 2J area of coastal Labrador have never exceeded the amount of fish available in and harvested from area 2J; however, allocations to the offshore sector, foreign countries and inshore vessels from other areas resulted in a reduced resource which could not meet their economic needs. Therefore, the resource allocation issue is paramount to the rationalization exercise, especially on a regional basis.

6.3.2 Regional Balance

The proposed rationalization of the offshore and inshore sectors of the Atlantic fishery must take place on a regional basis in line with the resource potential of each region, otherwise the overcapacity problems will be addressed by allocation from one region to another. This "shifting the burden" is a major impediment to capacity reduction since there is no commitment that making difficult decisions now will result in improved resource availability later. In fact, experience over the past 15 years has clearly demonstrated that allocations will go to areas with the greatest demand or political clout. The erosion of the sector management policy (Maloney 1990), lack of adherence to stated allocation policies (Steele *et al.* 1992), and the move away from allocation "principles" to the more flexible "guidelines" (Atlantic Groundfish Management Plan 1995) are all preventing local and regional rationalization and creating great uncertainty in the industry since there are no firm commitments with respect to future allocation.

6.4 National vs. Regional Allocation Priorities

The management of Northern cod over the past 18 years as a Canadian or national resource continues to cause numerous conflicts between federal and provincial governments. The allocation issue has invariably been at the centre of these conflicts. The Government of Canada has allocated Northern cod to foreign countries as part of bilateral trade agreements in return for market access. It has allocated Northern cod to other Provinces on the basis of projected growth in the resource and it has allocated Northern cod to other sectors, regions and harvesting technologies to the strong opposition of the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador (Parsons 1993).

These conflicts will not go away and the solution appears to lie in clearly identifying allocation objectives and goals so that each sectoral and regional share is protected. The increasing demands for more local (Pinkerton 1989) or regional (Vardy 1994) input are the result of the past *ad hoc* approach to management which resulted in spatial shifts in resources between communities, fleet sectors, regions, provinces and nations. In the words of the Cashin Task Force, "this is no way to decide the future of coastal areas and the resources upon which they have traditionally relied" (Cashin 1992: 65).

Chapter 7: Summary and Conclusions

The Government of Canada should carefully re-examine its biological, ecological and socio-economic goals in respect of the fisheries to ensure they are clearly defined, internally consistent and attainable. (Recommendation 19. Harris *et al.*, 1990:153)

7.1 The Future Management of Northern Cod

The most comprehensive overview of the Northern cod stock undertaken was the "Independent Review of the State of the Northern Cod Stock" by Harris et al (1990). This report recommended that goals and objective; be established for the future management of the northern cod stock and stressed that with respect to allocation, "the principles of adjacency and of essential needs be adopted as a fundamental premise underlying quota allocation" (Harris et al. 1990:6). The "Report of the Implementation Task Force on Northern Cod" (DFO, 1990) completed later the same year stated that "the priority of allocation access to inshore fishermen should continue" and that "the principle of historical dependency and adjacency should be continued and guide future allocation decisions" (DFO, 1990:14) and recommended that "allocation priority to the inshore sector" be a socio-economic goal (page 15). Two points are worth noting: firstly, the priority of allocation to the inshore should continue and principles of historical dependency and adjacency should continue. The report uses the word continue as if the inshore was receiving priority and the principles were being adhered to, yet the inshore share of the catch in 1986 had fallen to 26% of the total. Secondly, the recommendation of priority allocation to the inshore sector was made in October of 1990. Within months of receiving

this report, the Minister of Fisheries and Oceans announced a three year management plan for the Northern cod stock for the 1991-93 period of 190,000 mt, 185,000 mt, and 180,000 mt. which were approximately double the scientific advice. This resulted in the inshore sharc of the allocation and catch being 61% and 47% respectively in 1991.

The vast difference between the statements of theory and the quantitative reality was the major problem in the allocation of Northern cod.

> Throughout history, even when goals were articulated, they tended to be very general with little specificity. Lackey (1974) acknowledged that fisheries are managed on "soft objectives" (goals) such as "best" or "wise" use. These types of goals are good for public relations and political gamesmanship, but are difficult to use in effective, rational management (Barber and Taylor, 1990;366).

The past management of the Northern cod stock was, with the exception of the 1979 report, devoid of any specific quantitative goals and objectives with words like "priority" being used without any reference to amounts or percentages. Likewise, while historic dependency and adjacency have been principles of allocation they were never clearly defined. For example, adjacency means being in close proximity and it could be argued that while Nova Scotiz is not contiguous to the Northern cod stock it may be considered more adjacent than New Brunswick. Given the importance of these words in the allocation debates, it is essential that they be defined and articulated clearly and concisely. In future it is also essential that goals be stated clearly and concisely and also in a quantitative manner which will enable an evaluation of the success in attaining the goals and objectives. The Northern cod stock is but one of nearly 50 groundfish stocks managed in Atlantic Canada, and the problems in its past and future management are inherent throughout the Atlantic groundfish fishery. The December 1995 report of the Senate Standing Committee on Fisheries entitled "The Atlantic Groundfish Fishery: Its Future" states that

> "What has been sorely lacking over the years is a larger, clear and consistent conception of what federal fisheries management policy should be accomplishing, and a strategy on how to achieve those objectives....Too many in the industry believe that issues...specially those concerning licencing and fish allocation...have been, over many years, resolved by political means in favour of the more well organized and powerful industry groups.

The Senate committee goes on to recommend

The Committee recommends that the Department of Fisheries and Oceans issue a clear vision statement and an explicit statement of fundamental and guiding principles for managing the Atlantic fisheries, including clearly expressed objectives with respect to employment in coastal communities.

The Committee recommends that inshore fisheries have priority access to the resources upon which they have traditionally relied. The rules for re-opening fishing ground's should clearly stipulate that in the case of ground'fish usually harvested by both the inshore and offshore sectors, no offshore harvesting take place until the inshore has fully recovered. Offshore fisheries for ground'fish should be permitted to resume only after a thorough consultation with inshore fishermen (Govt of Canada, 1995, page 38). The Senate Committee's's report highlights the need for clearly stated goals and objectives and makes strong recommendations with respect to future allocation issues.

7.2 Areas for Future Research

The study of fisheries resource management poses many potential research questions especially in the area of resource allocation. This thesis has examined allocation decisions from a qualitative and quantitative perspective for the Northern cod stock and evaluated the management by comparing stated goals with the actual decisions. This research begins to fill the research gaps identified in 1981 by Draper and, since Northern cod is but one of the nearly 50 commercial groundfish stocks in Atlantic Canada, there are significant opportunities for additional research, especially for stocks such as turbot which is currently subject to intense conflict over allocations between nations and sectors and has parallels with the Northern cod crisis of the 1980s.

From a spatial perspective, the impact of allocation decisions upon regions or communities is a major area of applied geographic research. For example, by examining the resource available to a region or community, geographers can assess the impact of allocation decisions and identify issues which need to be addressed to ensure community stability. The development of a methodological approach to regional or community allocation: and stability would have major significance from an applied perspective in terms of the rationalization of the current overcapacity problems facing the fishing industry.

7.3 Summary and Recommendation

The past management of the Northern cod stock can be described as a process of "muddling through". The biological and socio-economic goals were never clearly stated and those that were, were neither adhered to nor attained. In Chapters 1-6 the problems of fisheries management and allocation have been examined in the context of the Northern cod stock. The stated goals and objectives were identified from Task Force Reports, policy documents and other sources such as ministerial speeches and consistently reflect a bias or preference towards the traditional inshore fishery sector. The analysis of allocations and catches over the 1977 to 1991 period reveals, however, a completely different bias. The inshore sector never experienced the expected benefits from the recovery of the Northern cod stock following the 200 mile limit because the stock did not recover to a level which would have ensured a consistent inshore harvest at its historic level of 200,000-250,000 mt. During the 1980s the consistent failure of the inshore fishery resulted in numerous studies to explain why the codfish did not migrate to inshore waters. Yet, retrospective analysis of past biomass estimates and TAC's and the low level of spawning biomass reveals the true reason for the failures as being the absence of sufficient biomass. The entrance of the Canadian offshore fleet and the continued overexploitation by foreign nations also affected the inshore in terms of both allocation and catches. Yet, the Department of Fisheries and Oceans consistently allocated the northern cod resource in a manner which disregarded their own stated objectives of allocation and ignored the complaints of inshore fishermen who stressed the fact that "you can't catch it twice".

The recent statements of the inshore sector's priority access to the first 100.000-115,000 mt, with any surplus being made available to the offshore sector and foreign nations also reflects a degree of goal displacement since the reference point for the inshore harvest has shifted away from the 1979 level of 230,000 mt.. This thesis has documented the past allocations and catches in terms of the stated goals and objectives for the Northern cod stock and provides a method of conducting hindsight evaluations of resource allocation issues. The shift in allocations and hence catches between sectors and also between geographic regions is the source of turmoil, conflict and unrest in the management of Atlantic Canada's fishery. The future resolution of such conflicts depends upon the development and implementation of clear and concise goals and objectives in the biological and socio-economic management of the resource. The Fisheries Resource Conservation Council has begun to establish the criteria for future biological management of the fish stocks, which will include goals and objectives in terms of biomass size, protection of spawners and minimum fish sizes. Unfortunately, the identification of future goals and objectives by the Government of Canada in the allocation of fish resources has not happened to date.

This analysis illustrates that, despite stated goals and objectives, the allocation of Northern cod from 1977 to 1991 resulted in a shift in access to resources from the traditional inshore sector to the Canadian offshore sector and to foreign nations. Despite the inshore's "priority" it did not receive the projected benefit due to the lack of adherence by the Government of Canada to its own allocation policy. In order to ensure that the stated goals and objectives of allocation are adhered to in future, it is essential that they be clearly stated and reviewed annually in terms of the actual catches.

Based upon its adjacency and historic dependence, the inshore sector must have sole access to the Northern cod resource as it rebuilds. The ability of the inshore sector to employ large numbers of people will also accomplish government's employment objectives from a social and economic perspective. While there is considerable debate with respect to the recovery time for Northern cod, it is essential that the priority of the inshore be "cast in stone" and quantified before the fisher's reopens, otherwise, the lobby from nontraditional users will again result in the erosion of the inshore's share. Given that hundreds of small isolated communities throughout Labrador and the northeast coast of Newfoundland are dependent upon the Northern cod stock for their economic and social survival it is imperative that future management and allocation not be a process of "muddling through".

Bibliography

- Acheson, J.M., 1981, "Anthropology of Fishing." Annual Review of Anthropology, 1987, Volume 10:275-316.
- Alverson, D.L. (Chairman), 1987, "A Study of Trends of Cod Stocks off Newfoundland and Factors Influencing their Abundance and Availability to the Inshore Fishery", Task Group on Newfoundland Inshore Fisheries, 83 p. and App.
- Barber, W. E. and J. N. Taylor, 1990. "The Importance of Goals, Objectives and Values in the Fisheries Management Process and Organization: A Review." North American Journal of Fisheries Management, Volume 10, No. 4:365-373.
- Bates. N., November 1995. Personal Communciation.
- Blake, R.B., 1994, "Canadians at Last; Canadian Integrates Newfoundland as a Province," University of Toronto Press.
- CAFSAC, 1986 "Advice on the Status and Management of the Cod Stock in NAFO Division 2J+3KL. Canadian Atlantic Fisheries Scientific Advisory Committee Doc. 86/5.
- CAFSAC, 1989 "Advice for 1989 on the Management of Cod in Divisions 2J+3KL. CAFSAC Advisory Doc. 89/1.
- CAFSAC, 1992 "Advice on the Management of Cod in Divisions 2J+3KL. CAFSAC Advisory Doc 92/2.
- Cashin, R., 1993. "Charting a New Course: Towards the Fishery of the Future" Task Force on Incomes and Adjustments in the Atlantic Fishery. Supply and Services Canada. 199.
- Charles, A.T. 1994. "Towards Sustainability: The Fisheries Experience." Ecological Economics. Volume 11:201-211.
- Chen, X.H. 1994. "Spatial and Temporal Variability of Inshore Cod Landings in Labrador and Eastern Nfid." Masters Thesis. Memorial University of Newfoundland 110 p.
- Cole-King, A., 1993. "Marine Conservation: A New Policy Area" Marine Policy. May 1993;171-185.

- Day, D., 1995 "Tending the Achilles' Heel of NAFO", Marine Policy Vol 19. Number 4:257-270 p.
- Dean. L.J., January 1996. Personal Communication.
- Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, 1978. "Resource Prospects for Canadas Atlantic Fisheries 1979-85", 53 p.
- Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, 1979. "Report of the Northern Cod Seminar" Corner Brook, Nfld. August 28-30, 1979, 214 p.
- Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans 1985 "Sector Management Policy for Canada's Atlantic Policy for Atlantic Groundfish Fishery", 8 p.
- Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, 1988. "The Science of Cod", Focsle Vol. 8 Number 2:29p.
- Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans, 1990. "Report of the Implementation Task Force on the Recommendations of the Harris Panel. (Dunne Report), 104 p.
- Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans. Annual Atlantic Groundfish Management Plans.
- Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans. Annual Year End Canadian Atlantic Quota Reports.
- Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans. 1994. Northern Shrimp Management Plan.
- Dept. of Fisheries and Oceans. Honourable B. Tobin. Speech to St. John's Board of Trade. September 1995.
- Draper D. 1981. 'Occan's exploitation: efficiency and equity questions in fisheries management' in Mitchell B. and W.R.D. Sewell (eds), Canadian Resource Policies: Froblems and Prospects. Methuen, Toronto.
- Elster J. 1992 "Local Justice. How institutions allocate scarce goods and necessary burdens." Russell Sage Foundation. New York, 283 p.
- FAO, 1995. "The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture" Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Fisheries Department Rome. 57 p.
- Ferguson A. and J. Alley. 1984: "Resource Geography: Is there shape to the terrain?" The Operational Geographer Number 5:36-38p.

- Finlayson, A.C., 1994. "Fishing for Truth; A Sociological Analysis of Northern Cod Stock Assessments from 1977-1990." Institute for Social and Economic Research Number 52:176 p.
- Fisheries Resource Conservation Council, 1993. "We Must Stop Chasing Quotas Down to the Last Fish", p
- Government of Canada 1995 "The Atlantic Groundfish Fishery: Its Future" Report of Standing Senate Committee on Fisheries, 42p.
- Government of Newfoundland and Labrador 1985 "Appropriate Offshore Fish Harvesting Technology: An Assessment of the Detrimental Effects of the Use of Factory Freezer Trawlers", Discussion Paper, 32 p.
- Government of Newfoundland and Labrador 1987 "Northern Cod Under Attack: The Newfoundland and Labrador perspective on the Allocation of Northern Cod", 11p.
- Government of Newfoundland and Labrador 1978. "Setting a Course: A Regional Strategy for Development of the Newfoundland Fishing Industry to 1985". Volume 2:432-573.
- Government of Newfoundland and Labrador 1991 "Effective Fisheries Management: Joint Management and Government Cooperation in the Newfoundland and Labrador Fishery", 39 p.
- Government of Newfoundland and Labrador 1993. "Changing Tides: A Consultative Document on the Fishery of the Future". March 1993,92p.
- Haedrich, R.L., 1994. "Impact of Overfishing on Size Structure in a Shelf Fish Community", International Council for the Exploration of the Sea, In press, 12 p.
- Hamilton, L.C. and C.L. Seyfrit. 1994. "Resources and hopes in Newfoundland." Society and Natural Resources. Volume 7:561-578.
- Hanna, S.S. and C.L. Smith. 1992 "Resolving Allocation Conflicts in Fisheries Management." Society and Natural Resources Volume 6:55-69.
- Hanna, S.S. 1994. "Summary of Workshop on Property Rights and Natural Resources." Society and Natural Resources Volume 7:595-597.
- Harris, L. (Chairman), 1990. "Independent Review of the State of the Northern Cod Stock. Final Report", Department of Fisheries and Oceans, 154 p.
- Hinds, L. 1992. "World Marine Fisheries Management and Development Problems." Marine Policy Volume 16, Number 5:394-403.
- Hutchings, J.A. and R.A. Myers. "What can be learned from the collapse of a renewable resource? Atlantic cod, <u>Gadus morhua</u>, of Newfoundland and Labrador" Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science. Volume 51, Number 9:2126-2146.
- Keats, D., Steele, D., Green, J., 1986, "A review of the Recent Status of the Northern Cod Stock (NAFO Divisions 2J, 3K and 3L) and the Declining Inshore Fishery". A Report to the NewFoundland Inshore Fisheries Association, 42 p.
- Krueger R.R. and Mitchell B. 1977. "Managing Canada's Renewable Resources." Methuen Publications, Toronto 333p.
- Lane, D.E. and Kaufman B. 1993. "Bio-economic Impacts of TAC Adjustments Strategies: A Model Applied to Northern cod." In Smith, S.J., J.J. Hunt and D. Rivard (Eds) Risk Evaluation and Biological Reference Points for Fisheries Management. Canadian Special Publication of Fisheries and Aquatic Science. Number 120:387-402
- Lear, W.H., and L.S. Parson. 1993. "History and management of the fishery for Northern cod in NAFO divisions 21, 3X and 3L^{*} in L.S. Parsons and W.H. Lear Perspectives on Canadian Marine Fisheries Management. Canadian Bulletin of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. Number 226:55-90.
- Ludwig, E., R. Hilborn and C. Walters. 1993. "Uncertainty, Resource Exploitation and Conservation: Lessons from History." Science, Volume 260:547-549.
- Leopold. A. 1948. A Sand County Almanac. Oxford University Press. 1948, 236 p.
- Maloney A. 1990. "The Erosion of the Newfoundland Fishery by Non-Newfoundland Interests.", Executive Business Center, 193 p.
- Maquire, J.J., B. Neis and P. Sinclair, 1994. "What are we managing anyway? The need for an interdisciplinary approach to managing fisheries ecosystems." International Council for the Exploration of the Sea. In press, 14 p.

- Martin, C. 1995. "The Collapse of the Northern Cod Stocks: Whatever Happened to 86/25?" Fisheries Volume 20, Number 5:6-8.
- Mitchell B. 1979. Geography and Resource Analysis (2nd ed.). Wiley & Son, New York 399 p.
- Mitchell B and P. King, 1984 "Resource Conflict, Policy Change and Practice in Canadian Fisheries Management", Geoforum Volume 15, Number 3:419-432.
- Munro, G.R., 1980. "A Promise of Abundance: Extended Fisheries Jurisdiction and the Newfoundland Economy" Supply and Services Canada, 111 p.
- Neis, Barbara. 1992. "Fishers' ecological knowledge and stock assessment in Newfoundland and Labrador" Newfoundland Studies, 8(2): 185-211.
- NORDCO, 1981. "It Were Well to Live Mainly off Fish; The Place of the Northern Cod in Newfoundland's Development. Jesperson Printing Ltd., St. John's, 211 p.
- Parsons, L.S., 1993. "Management of Marine Fisheries in Canada": Canadian Bulletin of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences Number 225:763 p.
- Pinkerton, Evelyn (ed.). 1989. "Co-operative Management of Local Fisheries: New Direction for Improved Management and Community Development." Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press, 299 p.
- Rowe, M., 1993. "An Overview of Straddling Stocks in the Northwest Atlantic. Peace in Our Time?". In Storey, K. (ed) 1993. "The Newfoundland Groundfish Fisheries: Defining the Reality." Institute of Social and Economic Research. Memorial University of Newfoundland, 246 p.
- Shrank, W.E., 1995. "Extended Fisheries Jurisdiction; Origins of the Current Crisis in Atlantic Canada's Fisheries." Marine Policy, Volume 19, Number 4:285-299.
- Smith, T.D., 1994. "Scaling Fisheries; The Science of Measuring the Effects of Fishing, 1855-1955" Cambridge University Press, 205 p.
- Spooner, 1990. "Geography: Into the 1990's" (Editorial). Geography 1990:1-2.

- Steele, D.H., R. Andersen and J.M. Green, 1992. "The Managed Commercial Annihilation of Northern Cod," Newfoundland Studies 8(1):34-67.
- Stevenson, R.L., S. Gavaris and D. Lane, 1994. "The Scale of Management: An Impediment to Linking Biological, Social and Economic Considerations in Management? International Council for the Exploration of the Sea. In press, 6 p.
- Storey, K. (ed) 1993. "The Newfoundland Groundfish Fisheries: Defining the Reality." Institute of Social and Economic Research. Memorial University of Newfoundland, 246 p.
- Sullivan K.M. 1989. "Conflict in the Management of a Northwest Atlantic Transboundary Cod Stock." Marine Policy. Volume 12 (2):118-136.
- Walters, C., 1986, "Adaptive management of Renewable Resources," Macmillian, New York, 374 p.
- World Commission on Environment and Development, 1987, "Our Common Future." Oxford University Press, England, 400 p.
- Vardy, D. 1994, "Joint Management in the Newfoundland Fishery," Institute of Social and Economic Research St. John's, Newfoundland Research and Policy Paper Number 19, 25p.

Appendix One

					-											
100 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1977	*	1978		1979	37	1980	5	1981	3	1982	•	1983	**	1984	v
Allocations - TAC	160,000		135,000		170,000		180,000		200,000		237,000		260,000		266,000	
Foreign/NAFO Quota	90.000	56%	38,000	28%	25,000	15°+	25,000	14 %	10 000	Sto.	15,700	71 .	20,000	R.º.	20 000	8°.
Canadian Quota:																
ta <65'									120.000	60%	115 000	10%	115.000	44%	115.000	43'2
ma <65'											5.000	220	5.000	20,	5.000	240
ta 65-100'									2.600	1.0	1.000	0.0	3.000	120	000 0	120
ma 65-100'											1.500	112	1 000	0.0	1.009	0.0
vessels >100'									67 500	34%	98 800	120.	106 000	110.	112 000	12%
RSPP													10.000	122	10.000	15
(QW):001< 01																
Inshere	52.250	33**	27.000	574	102.000	60.0	110.000	61.2								
Ottahore	17 750	110	20,000	15%	43 000	2540	45 000	2500								
Total Canadian Quota	70 000	44%	000 26	-06L	000 571	85°.	155 000	86%	000 061	.:20	221 300	0 70 A	240 000	. et 2	000 972	1.00
Canadian Catch:																
ta <65'									77 277	43%	112,144	43%2	105.315	45%	95.975	49'
ma <65'									. 185	0.0	362	6.0	1.451	100	3.7.1.1	2%
ta 65-102'									705	0"-	765	0.5	1 109	0.0	2.918	1%.
ma 65-100'									30	2.0			4	300	124	0.0
vessels >100'							50.473	244	75.955	4342	99.261	42%	105.910	45%	99.945	127
RSPP							5.189	3%							6.955	32.
tg >100'(MD)																
Inshore	72 623	42%	81.455	5910	85 822	5100	95.964	524:								
Ottshore	6.938	4 2.4	20.922	15°a.	44.957	2700										
Total Canadian Catch	79 561	46°a	102 377	7402	130 779	78*=	151.626	24"-	154.162	37-4	212,532	41.0	214 793	010	208,743	184
1000 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00																I
Foreign/NAFO Catch	93 159	4.75	36182	2600	36 120	22-2	28 230	180.	23.677	13.0	22 122	6 1 g	17 593	1.5	28 509	.16.
Total Catch	172.720		138 559		166 399		179.855		177 833	٦	234 654		232 686		237 352	

98

Appendix 1a: Allocations and Catches of Northern Cod 1977 - 1984

	1985	1	1986	1	1367	1	1968	1	1969	1	1990	1	1991	1
Allocations - TAC	266 000		266 000		256 000		266 000		000 220		100 262		100.000	
								l		1			AAA A	l
Contraction of the local division of the loc		1			0.200	F				Γ	-	F		ŀ

		1												
Cenadian Quota:												Γ		Γ
ta -65'	115.000	1300	115 000	430 4	115.000	452.0	115 000	430.	115.000	400.	115.000	5.64	115.000	61.0
ma <85'	5 000	2	5,000	24	5.000	20.	5.000	340	3.975	200				
fg 65-100'	3.000	1.0	3.000	:	3.000	19.0	4.130	20,	3.320	10.0	2.545	1.0	783	0"2
mg 65-100 [°]	1 000	0.0	1.000	0.9	1.000	0.0	1.000	0°.	795	00	610	010	232	с.
vessels >100'	115 700	130	115.700	43%	112 150	447.0	121.200	46%	96.320	417.0	73.845	379.	71 845	-
RSPP	10.000	4.0	10.000	47.0	5.300	400	15.350	10	12.200	500	5,000	700		
fg >1001MD1					1.050	0.0	4 270	203	3.390	100				
Inshere														
Ottshore														
Total Canadian Otota	UUL DVC		002 016	149.0	246 600	000	000 000	1000	335,000	1000	107 000	000	107 000	- 105-

ů	anadian Catch:														
Ц	fa <65'	78.941	37.0	71.351	2670	78.175	17.0	98.002	70%	95,000	1740	902.111	570	74.053	470.
	ma <65'	2,380	100	4.823	200	4.209	2.0	4.029	1.0	3,983	2"0				
	fa 65-100'	6/2	0.0	1.090	0.2	3.576	10.0	3.455	100	3.231	100	2.321	10	771	0°.
_	ma 65-100'	374	0.0	266	0.0	379	0,0	459	3	305.	OP.	291	0.0	227	8
	versels >100'	101.551	53° a	120.551	4.50%	112.046	40%	120.748	447+	97 324	380.	60,141	37%	57 029	370.
	RSPP	8.803	4.0	8.570	-tre	9.235	27	14.247	500	12.180	-	4 943	2'2		
_	fq >100'(MD)			511	0.0	1.237	100	4.071	100	3.284	100		1		
	Inshore														
	Offshore														
Ê	otal Canadian Catch	192 828	82°.	207 162	750.	208 857	A10.	245,081	o've	216.318	36°*	189.238	R.0"-	112 080	852

•

Foreign/NAFO Catch	43.319	180%	67 5a6	5°°	36.075	5°.	26.807	1000	38,799	150	25 489	12 e	22,930	1500
Total Catch	236,147	Π	274 748	Π	2-14,932	П	271,888	П	254 117	Π	213,727		155,910	Π

Appendix 1b: Allocations and Catches of Northern Cod 1985 - 1991

Total Catch







